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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 
 
 

SEC FORM 17-Q 
 
 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES  
REGULATION CODE AND SRC RULE 17(2)(b) THEREUNDER 

 
 
 
1.   For the quarterly period ended:  September 30, 2014 
  
2. Commission identification number:   60566 
 
3.   BIR Tax Identification:   004-504-281-000 
 
4.   Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter: 
  
  CENTURY PROPERTIES GROUP INC. (formerly East Asia Power Resources Corporation) 
 
1. Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: 
 

Metro Manila, Philippines 
  
6.   Industry Classification Code:      (SEC Use Only)  
       
7.    Address of registrant's principal office/Postal Code: 
 
 21ST Floor, Pacific Star Building, Senator Gil Puyat corner Makati Avenue, Makati City 
 
8.   Registrant's telephone number, including area code:   

  
            (632) 7935500 
 
9.   Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report:   
 

EAST ASIA POWER RESOURCES CORPORATION, Ground Floor, PFDA Building, Navotas 
 Fishport Complex, Navotas Metro Manila 

 
10.   Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code, or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA:  
 

 
Title of Each Class 

Number of Shares of Common Stock 
Outstanding and  

Amount of Debt Outstanding 
 

Common Shares 
 

9,683,572,027  Common Shares 
16,152,000 Treasury Shares 
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11.   Are any or all of the securities listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange? 
 
 Yes   [    ]    No   [    ] 
 

If yes, state the name of such Stock Exchange and the class/es of securities listed therein: 
 
 Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.; Common shares 
 
12.  Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:  
 

(a)  has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the Code and SRC Rule 17 
thereunder or Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 
141 of the Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the preceding twelve (12) months (or 
for such shorter period the registrant was required to file such reports) 

 
 Yes  [  ]     No   [   ] 
 
 (b)  has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. 
  
 Yes   [  ]    No   [   ] 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
(in million pesos) 
     Unaudited     Audited  
     30-Sep-14     31-Dec-13  
ASSETS 
Current Assets 
 Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5)   P 2,853.5    P 1,438.9 
 Receivables – net (Note 6)    6,016.1     5,876.8 
 Real estate Inventory (Note 7)    8,902.3     7,026.9 
 Land held for future development (Note 8)    86.3     86.3 
 Due from related parties    125.4    177.3 
 Advances to suppliers and contractors (Note 9)    629.2     1,314.9 
 Prepayments and other current assets (Note 10)    1,834.9     1,265.9 
 Derivative assets    74.7    29.9 
 Total Current Assets    20,522.4     17,216.9 
Non-current Assets 
 Non-current real estate receivables    3,213.1    3,217.0 
 Noncurrent land held for future development    388.5    380.0 
 Investment in and advances to joint venture    164.7    48.8 
 Deposit on purchased land    384.9    154.5 
 Available-for-sale financial assets    9.5    9.5 
 Investment properties (Note 11)    4,366.8    4,080.8 
 Property and equipment – net    123.3    157.8 
 Deferred tax assets    149.4    124.7 
 Intangible assets    36.7    18.0 
 Other non-current assets (Note 12)    1,060.5    758.0 
 Total Non-current Assets    9,897.4     8,949.1 
    P 30,419.8    P 26,166.0 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
Current Liabilities 
Accounts and other payables (Note 13)   P 3,501.4    P 4,629.2 
Customers’ advances and deposits (Note 14)    1,296.5     2,222.7 
Short-term debt (Note 15)    570.5     579.7 
Current portion of:         
 Long-term debt (Note 15)    1,269.0     1,178.2 
 Liability from purchased land    2.4     2.4 
Due to related parties    34.1     31.9 
Income tax payable    86.2     5.8 
 Total Current Liabilities    6,760.1    8,649.9 
Non-current Liabilities 
Long-term debt - net of current portion (Note 15)    5,913.0    4,281.2 
Liability from purchased land - net of current portion    28.3     28.3 
Bonds payable (Note 15)    2,700.0    - 
Pension liabilities    149.5    142.7 
Deferred tax liabilities – net    2,028.7    1,628.8 
 Total Non-current Liabilities    10,819.5     6,081.0 
 Total Liabilities    17,579.6     14,730.9 
Equity 
Equity attributable to owners of the parent company:         
 Capital stock (Note 16)    5,140.9    5,140.9 
 Additional paid-in capital (Note 16)    2,639.7    2,639.7 
 Treasury shares (Note 16)  (  24.7 ) (  22.5 ) 
 Retained earnings (Note 16)    5,150.9    3,743.6 
 Equity reserves  (  7.0 ) (  7.0 ) 
 Unrealized loss on available-for-sale financial assets  (  3.2 ) (  3.2 ) 
 Remeasurement loss on defined benefit plan  (  56.4 ) (  56.4 ) 
     12,840.2    11,435.1 
Non-controlling interests    -     -  
 Total Equity    12,840.2     11,435.1 
    P 30,419.8    P 26,166.0 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(in million pesos) 
     Unaudited     Unaudited     Unaudited     Unaudited  
     Jul – Sep     Jan – Sep     Jul – Sep     Jan – Sep  
     Q3 2014     2014     Q3 2013     2013  
 
REVENUE 
Real estate sales   P 2,483.1   P 7,230.2   P 2,398.4   P 6,973.2 
Property management fee and other services    76.2    217.3    59.1    197.6 
Leasing revenue    56.5     106.0    -     - 
Interest and other income    230.3    912.8    334.3    912.0 
     2,846.1     8,466.3     2,791.8    8,082.8 
 
COST AND EXPENSES 
Cost of real estate sales    1,366.8    4,299.1     1,374.4    4,023.1 
Cost of services    60.1     168.0    45.3    132.1 
General, administrative and selling expenses    596.8     1,585.2    551.0    1,560.0 
Interest and other financing charges – net    24.7    134.7    9.6    66.1 
     2,048.4    6,187.0    1,980.3    5,781.3 
 
INCOME BEFORE TAX    797.7     2,279.3    811.5    2,301.5 
 
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX    264.1    687.5    281.9    715.9 
 
NET INCOME    533.6    1,591.8    529.6    1,585.6 
 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME                 
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sales                 
 financial assets    -     -     -     -  
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   P 533.6   P 1,591.8   P 529.6   P 1,585.6 
 
Net income/(loss) attributable to: 
 Equity holders of the Parent Company   P 533.6   P 1,591.8   P 529.6   P 1,585.6 
 Non-controlling interests    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0 
    P 533.6   P 1,591.8   P 529.6   P 1,585.6 
 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to: 
 Equity holders of the Parent Company   P 533.6   P 1,591.8   P 529.6   P 1,585.6 
 Non-controlling interests    0.0    0.0    0.0    0.0 
    P 533.6    1,591.8   P 529.6   P 1,585.6 
 
Weighted average common shares    9,548.9    9,548.9    9,700    9,611 
Basic/diluted earnings per share   P 0.06   P 0.17   P 0.06   P 0.17 
 
 



 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
(in million pesos) 
                                    
    Capital     Additional     Retained              Non-controlling   
    Stock     Paid-in Capital    Earnings     Reserves     Total     Interests     Total  
 
At January 1, 2014   P 5,118.3   P 2,639.7   P 3,743.6  ( P 66.6 )  P 11,435.0   P -    P 11,435.0 
Net income    -     -     1,591.8    -     1,591.8     -     1,591.8  
Dividends declared    -     -   (   184.5 )   -   (   184.5 )   -   (   184.5 ) 
Acquisition of treasury shares  (   2.1 )   -     -     -   (   2.1 )   -   (   2.1 ) 
At September 30, 2014   P 5,116.2   P 2,639.7   P 5,150.9  ( P 66.6 )  P 12,840.2  P -    P 12,840.2 
 
 
At January 1, 2013   P 4,716.9  P 1,483.2   P 2,077.8  ( P 11.7 )  P 8,266.2   P -    P 8,266.2 
Net income    -     -     1,585.6     -     1,585.6    -     1,585.6  
Issuance of shares    424.0    1,156.6    -     -     1,580.6    -     1,580.6 
Dividends declared    -     -   (   184.5 )   -   (  184.5 )   -   (  184.5 ) 
Acquisition of treasury shares  (  22.6 )   -     -     -   (  22.6 )      (  22.6 ) 
At September 30, 2013  P 5,118.3  P 2,639.8   P 3,478.9  (P 11.7 )  P 11,225.3   P -    P 11,225.3 
 
 
 



 
 
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 
(in million pesos) 
     Unaudited     Unaudited  
     30-Sep-14     30-Sept-13  
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Income before tax   P 2,279.4    P 2,301.4 
Adjustments for: 
 Interest expense    93.5     238.4 
 Depreciation and amortization    23.8    39.9 
 Pension expenses    6.7     2.1 
 Interest income  (  635.1 ) (  451.0 ) 
 Unrealized foreign exchange loss    11.9    - 
 Valuation gain   (  44.8 ) (  -  
Operating income before working capital changes    1,735.4    2,130.8 
Decrease (increase) in:  
 Receivables    437.7  (  1,647.5 ) 
 Real estate inventories  (  1,512.6 ) (  2,234.5 ) 
 Advances from suppliers and contractors    685.7  (  202.4 ) 
 Prepayments and other current assets  (  569.1 ) (  1,187.5 ) 
Increase (decrease) in:   
 Accounts and other payables  (  1,127.8 )   2,710.3 
 Customers' advances and deposits  (  926.0 ) (  796.7 ) 
Cash used in operations  (  1,276.7 ) (  1,227.5 ) 
 Interest received    62.0     36.5 
 Interest paid  (  444.4 ) (  238.4 ) 
 Income taxes paid   (  231.9 ) (  207.8 ) 
Net cash used in operating activities  (  1,891.0 ) (  1,637.2 ) 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Decrease (increase) in: 
  Non-current assets  (  302.4 ) (  32.0 ) 
 Due from related parties    54.1      - 
Additions: 
 Land held for future development  (  8.5 ) (   25.0 ) 
 Deposit for purchased land  (  230.4 )   - 
 Investment in and advances to joint venture  (  115.9 )   - 
 Investment properties  (  286.0 ) (  552.4 ) 
 Property and equipment    1.6  (  31.5 ) 
 Intangible assets  (  21.7 )   -  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (  909.2 ) (  640.9 ) 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Net proceeds from issuance of shares of stock    -     1,580.6 
Availments (repayments) of: 
 Short-term and long-term debt    1,701.4     1,790.4 
 Liability from purchased land    -     -  
Payment of dividends  (   184.5 ) (  184.4 ) 
Issuance of bonds     2,700.0    -  
Acquisition of treasury shares  (   2.1 ) (  22.5 ) 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    4,214.8     3,164.1 
 
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND  
 CASH EQUIVALENTS    1,414.6    886.0 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD    1,438.9    901.8 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 AT END OF PERIOD   P 2,853.5   P 1,787.8 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 
Century Properties Group, Incorporated, formerly East Asia Power Resources Corporation 
(“EAPRC”), (“CPGI” or the “Company” or “Century”) was originally incorporated on March 23, 1975 as 
Northwest Holdings and Resources Corporation. In September 26, 2011, the Board of Directors of 
CPGI approved the change in the Company’s corporate name to its present name, as well as the 
change in its primary business purpose from power generation to that of a holding company and real 
estate business. Between May and November 2011, Century Properties Inc (“CPI” or “Parent 
Company”) entered into a series of transactions with EAPRC, a corporation organized under the laws 
of the Philippines and listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange, whereby, among other things, CPI 
acquired 96.99% of EAPRC’s Common Shares and EAPRC acquired all of the subsidiaries of CPI.   
 
Century is one of the leading real estate companies in the Philippines with 28 years of experience. 
Currently, the Company has five wholly-owned subsidiaries namely Century City Development 
Corporation, Century Limitless Corporation, Century Communities Corporation, Century Properties 
Management, Inc. and Century Properties Hotel and Leisure, Inc. (collectively known as the 
“Subsidiaries”), and an associate called A2 Global, Inc. through its Subsidiaries and Associate, Century 
develops, markets and sells residential, office and medical properties in the Philippines. The 
Company, likewise, develops investment properties such as office and retail mall, as well as manages 
residential and commercial properties in the Philippines. 
 
Starting 2010, the company has completed 6 buildings totaling 5,009 units and 354,313 GFA up to 
September 30, 2014.  This is in addition to the 19 buildings totaling 3,768 units and 518,634 GFA that 
were completed prior to 2010 by the founding principals' prior development companies, the Meridien 
group of companies.  The Company also completed the Century City Mall in 2013, its initial foray into 
retail development. 
 

 
Residential Projects  

 
Location 

 
Type 

GFA (with parking) 
sq. m. 

 
Units 

 
Year Completed 

Grand SOHO Makati Makati City Residential 29,628 360 2010 
Gramercy Residences Makati City Residential 121,595 1,432 2012 
Knightsbridge Residences Makati City Residential 87,717 1,328 2013 
Rio Parañaque City Residential 42,898 758 2013 
Santorini Parañaque City Residential 36,215 553 2013 
St. Tropez Parañaque City Residential 36,260 580 2013 
Total   354,313 5,009  

 
Currently, the Company is developing six master-planned communities that is expected to have 42 
condominiums and commercial buildings condominium and commercial units and 934 single 
detached homes, with a total expected GFA of 1,934,561 sq.m. 
 
The Company’s land bank for future development consists of properties in Quezon City and Batangas 
that cover a site area of 1,922,899 sqm.  
 
The Company, through Century Properties Management, Inc. (“CPMI”) also engages in a wide range 
of property management services, from facilities management and auction services, to lease and 
secondary sales. Through CPMI, the Company endeavors to ensure that the asset values of 
properties managed are maintained or improved and are safe and secure. There are currently 51 
projects with 2.56 million square meters of GFA under the management of CPMI, 86% of the 
contracts are with third-parties.  Notable third-party developed projects under management include 
the Asian Development Bank in Ortigas, BPI Buendia Center in Makati City, Philippine National Bank 
Financial Center in Pasay City, Pacific Star Building in Makati City, Makati Medical Center in Makati 
City and three Globe Telecom buildings in Cebu, Mandaluyong and Makati City, respectively. 
     



 
 

 3

Century’s aim is to enhance the overall quality of life of Filipinos and foreign nationals by providing 
distinctive, high-quality and affordable properties. Century focuses on differentiation to drive demand, 
increase our margins and grow market share.  In particular, Century identifies what the Company 
believes are the best global residential standards and adopts them to the Filipino market.  CPGI 
believes that it has earned a reputation for pioneering new housing concepts in the Philippines.  One 
of Century’s significant contributions is the Fully-Fitted and Fully-Furnished (“FF/FF”) concept, which 
is now an industry standard in the Philippines.  CPGI also employs a branding strategy that focuses 
on strategic arrangements with key global franchises to help capture and sustain consumers’ 
awareness.  To date, CPGI has entered into agreements with Gianni Versace S.P.A., The Trump 
Organization, Paris Hilton, Missoni Homes, Yoo by Philippe Starck, Forbes Media Group LLC, Giorgio 
Armani S.P.A, among others. 
 
Century has marketed and sold to clients in more than 50 countries and, as a result, a significant 
portion of its residential properties are sold to Filipinos living abroad.  International pre-sales 
accounted for approximately two-thirds of the total pre-sales, in terms of value, for each of the last 
three years.  CPGI conduct its sales and marketing through the Company’s extensive domestic and 
international network of 3,506 agents and brokers as of December 31, 2013. 
 
For 2011, 2012 and 2013, our revenue was P4,702.5 million, P9,611.2 million and P10,809.1 million 
respectively, and our net income was P866.2 million, P1,849.8 million and P1,844.7 million, 
respectively. As of September 30, 2014, we had total assets of P30,419.8 million, and total equity of 
P12,840.2 million. 
 
 
1.2 RECENT TRANSACTIONS 
 
On October 31, 2013, the Company signed a Memorandum of Agreement with Eagle I Landholdings, 
Inc. to develop 5 hectares of land within the 44 hectare site named “Manila Bay Resorts”.  The 5 
hectare site will potentially include luxury residential and retail properties that will total over 300,000 
sq m of gross floor area upon completion. 
 
In addition, CPGI entered into an investment agreement with Eagle I whereby Century will be issued 
with 432,000,000 preferred shares representing 36% of Eagle I’s pro forma capital stock subject to 
terms and conditions from both parties. 
 
In line with this transaction, CPGI disclosed that on April 1, 2014, in connection with the Petition for 
Interim Measures of Protection filed on March 31, 2014 against the Okada Group and docketed as 
Civil Case No. 14-359 before the Regional Trial Court, Makati City Branch 66 (the “Court”), the Court 
issued an Order granting application by CPGI for the issuance of an immediately executory 20-day 
Temporary Order of Petition for another 20 days.  On April 30, 2014, the Court issued and order dated 
April 23, 2014 extending the Temporary Order of Petition for another 20 days.  Finally, on May 29, 
2014, CPGI disclosed that the Court issued an order dated May 13, 2014 denying and dismissing the 
Petition for Interim Measures of Protection for lack of merit. 
 
Further to the disclosures made by CPGI relative to the case against the Okada Group, CPGI was 
notified by its legal counsel on closing of business hours of July 28, 2014 of a Court Order dated July 
25, 2014, which granted CPGI’s application for preliminary prohibitory injunction against the Okada 
group in Civil Case No. 14-359, filed with the RTC Branch 66, Makati City entitled, “Century Properties 
Group, Inc. vs. Eagle I Landholdings, Inc., et al.”  This is in response to the Motion for 
Reconsideration filed by CPGI questioning the earlier ruling of the Court denying the injunctive relief 
prayed for by CPGI.” 
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In its July 25, 2014 ruling, the Court ordered the issuance of injunction prohibiting the Okada group: 
 
(1) from giving effect to the termination of their Agreements with CPGI and from committing any acts 
that will render the Agreements or any portion thereof unenforceable or ineffective or render any part 
of the dispute moot and academic; 
 
(2) from dealing with any party with respect to any sale, disposition or original issuance of any class of 
the shares of stock  of Eagle I and refrain from any sale, disposition or original issuance of any class 
of the shares of stock of Eagle I; and 
 
(3) from dealing with any other party for the development of the commercial/residential land and the 
commercial/residential project itself as contained in said agreements.” 
 
 CPGI further undertakes that it shall inform the Honorable Exchange with regard to other material 
information relative to these transactions. 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Regulation Code, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
1.3 SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE 
 
Below is the Company’s percentage of ownership in its Subsidiaries and Associate as of the filing of this 
report.  
 
 Percentage of Ownership as of 

the Filing of the Report 
 Direct Indirect 
Century Communities Corporation (CCC) 100 - 
Century City Development Corporation (CCDC) 100 - 
Century Limitless Corporation (CLC) 100 - 
Century Properties Management Inc. (CPMI) 
Century Properties Hotel and Leisure, Inc. (CPHLI) 
A2Global Inc. 

100 
100 
49 

- 
- 
- 

  
CPGI conducts its operations through five wholly-owned Subsidiaries, Century Communities 
Corporation (“CCC”), Century Properties Management, Inc. (“CPMI”), Century City Development 
Corporation (“CCDC”), Century Limitless Corporation (“CLC”) and Century Properties Hotel and 
Leisure, Inc. (“CPHLI”). 
 
Century Communities Corporation  
CCC, incorporated on March 15, 1994, is focused on horizontal house-and-lot developments. From 
the conceptualization to the sellout of a project, CCC provides experienced specialists who develop 
and execute the right strategy to successfully market a project.  CCC is currently developing Canyon 
Ranch, a 25-hectare house-and-lot development located in Carmona, Cavite. 
 
Century City Development Corporation  
CCDC, incorporated on December 19, 2006, is focused on developing mixed-use communities that 
comprise of residences, office and retail properties. CCDC is currently developing Century City, a  
3.4-hectare mixed-use development along Kalayaan Avenue in Makati City. 
 
Century Limitless Corporation  
CLC, incorporated on July 9, 2008, focuses on developing high-quality affordable residential projects. 
Projects under CLC will cater to first-time home buyers, start-up families, and retirees seeking safe, 
secure, and convenient homes within close proximity of quality healthcare facilities.  
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Century Properties Management, Inc.  
CPMI, incorporated on March 17, 1989, is one of the largest property management companies in the 
Philippines, by total gross floor area under management.  CPMI has 51 projects in its portfolio, 
covering a total GFA of 2.56M sq.m as of September 30, 2014.  CPMI is the first independent and 
local property management company to introduce international standards in the Philippine property 
market.  CPMI has been awarded 18 safety and security distinctions from the Safety Organization of 
the Philippines. 
 
Century Properties Hotel and Leisure, Inc. 
CPHLI, incorporated in March 27, 2014, is a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of CPGI.  CPHLI 
shall operate, conduct and engage in hotel business and related business ventures. 
 
A2Global Inc. 
Incorporated in 2013, CPGI has a 49% stake in A2Global, Inc., a company shall act as a sub-lessee 
for the project initiatives of Asian Carmakers Corporation (ACC) and Century Properties Group Inc. in 
the development and construction commercial office in Fort Bonifacio.  
 
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Preparation 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (the Group).  The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investment properties and available-for-sale (AFS) 
financial assets that are measured at fair value.  The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Philippine Peso, the Group’s functional currency.  All values are rounded to the nearest peso 
except when otherwise indicated. 
 
Statement of Compliance 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 
 
Basis of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group as at 
September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013 and for each of the nine months in the period ended 
September 30, 2014 and 2013. 
 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The 
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, 
using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealized gains and 
losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full. 
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Non-controlling interests (NCI) represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not 
wholly owned and are presented separately in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of financial position, 
separately from total equity attributable to owners of the Company. Losses within a subsidiary are 
attributed to the NCI even if that results in a deficit balance. 
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:  

 Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, the carrying 
amount of any NCI and the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity. 

 Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received, the fair value of any investment 
retained and any surplus or deficit in profit or loss. 

 Reclassifies the Company’s share of components previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 

 
Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures 
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Group’s financial statements are consistent 
with those of the previous financial years except for the following amended standards, which were 
adopted as of January 1, 2014.  The nature and the impact of each new standard and amendment are 
described below: 
 

  PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities (Amendments) 
These amendments to PAS 32 clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right 
to set-off” and also clarify the application of the PAS 32 offsetting criteria to settlement 
systems (such as central clearing house systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms 
that are not simultaneous.  The amendments affect presentation only on the Group’s financial 
position or performance.  The amendments to PAS 32 are to be retrospectively applied for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. 
 

 PAS 36, Impairment of Assets - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 
(Amendments) 
These amendments remove the unintended consequences of PFRS 13 on the disclosures 
required under PAS 36.  In addition, these amendments require disclosure of the recoverable 
amounts for the assets or cash-generating units (CGUs) for which impairment loss has been 
recognized or reversed during the period.  These amendments are effective retrospectively 
with earlier application permitted, provided PFRS 13 is also applied.  The amendments are 
not expected to have an impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. 
 

 Investment Entities (Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 27) 
These amendments provide an exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that 
meet the definition of an investment entity under PFRS 10.  The exception to consolidation 
requires investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss.  It is 
not expected that these amendments will have an impact to the Group. 
 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 21, Levies 
IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers 
payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs.  For a levy that is triggered upon 
reaching a minimum threshold, the interpretation clarifies that no liability should be anticipated 
before the specified minimum threshold is reached.  The Group does not expect that IFRIC 21 
will have material financial impact in future financial statements.  
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 PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Amendments) 
These amendments provide relief from discontinuing hedge accounting when novation of a 
derivative designated as a hedging instrument meets certain criteria.  The Group does not 
expect this amendment to have an impact on the Group financial position and performance.  

 
Future Changes in Accounting Policies 

 
The Group will adopt the following relevant standards and interpretations when these become 
effective 2015.   
 

 PAS 19, Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments) 
The amendments apply to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit 
plans.  Contributions that are set out in the formal terms of the plan shall be accounted for as 
reductions to current service costs if they are linked to service or as part of the 
remeasurements of the net defined benefit asset or liability if they are not linked to service.  
Contributions that are discretionary shall be accounted for as reductions of current service 
cost upon payment of these contributions to the plans.  The amendments to PAS 19 are to be 
retrospectively applied for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014.   
 

 PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Definition of Vesting Condition  
The amendment revised the definitions of vesting condition and market condition and added 
the definitions of performance condition and service condition to clarify various issues.  This 
amendment shall be prospectively applied to share-based payment transactions for which the 
grant date is on or after July 1, 2014.  This amendment does not apply to the Group as it has 
no share-based payments. 
 

 PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Accounting for Contingent Consideration in a Business 
Combination 
The amendment clarifies that a contingent consideration that meets the definition of a 
financial instrument should be classified as a financial liability or as equity in accordance with 
PAS 32.  Contingent consideration that is not classified as equity is subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit or loss whether or not it falls within the scope of PFRS 9 
(or PAS 39, if PFRS 9 is not yet adopted).  The amendment shall be prospectively applied to 
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after July 1, 2014.  The Group 
shall consider this amendment for future business combinations. 

 
 PFRS 8, Operating Segments - Aggregation of Operating Segments and Reconciliation of the 

Total of the Reportable Segments’ Assets to the Entity’s Assets 
The amendments require entities to disclose the judgment made by management in 
aggregating two or more operating segments.  This disclosure should include a brief 
description of the operating segments that have been aggregated in this way and the 
economic indicators that have been assessed in determining that the aggregated operating 
segments share similar economic characteristics.  The amendments also clarify that an entity 
shall provide reconciliations of the total of the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s 
assets if such amounts are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker.  These 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and are 
applied retrospectively.  The amendments affect disclosures only and have no impact on the 
Group’s financial position or performance. 

 PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Short-term Receivables and Payables 
The amendment clarifies that short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest 
rates can be held at invoice amounts when the effect of discounting is immaterial.  
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 PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment - Revaluation Method - Proportionate Restatement of 
Accumulated Depreciation 
The amendment clarifies that, upon revaluation of an item of property, plant and equipment, 
the carrying amount of the asset shall be adjusted to the revalued amount, and the asset shall 
be treated in one of the following ways: 
a. The gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation 

of the carrying amount of the asset.  The accumulated depreciation at the date of 
revaluation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and the 
carrying amount of the asset after taking into account any accumulated impairment 
losses. 

b. The accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset. 

 
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014.  The 
amendment shall apply to all revaluations recognized in annual periods beginning on or after 
the date of initial application of this amendment and in the immediately preceding annual 
period.  The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. 
 

 PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures - Key Management Personnel 
The amendments clarify that an entity is a related party of the reporting entity if the said entity, 
or any member of a group for which it is a part of, provides key management personnel 
services to the reporting entity or to the parent company of the reporting entity.  The 
amendments also clarify that a reporting entity that obtains management personnel services 
from another entity (also referred to as management entity) is not required to disclose the 
compensation paid or payable by the management entity to its employees or directors.  The 
reporting entity is required to disclose the amounts incurred for the key management 
personnel services provided by a separate management entity.  The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and are applied retrospectively.  
The amendments affect disclosures only and have no impact on the Group’s financial position 
or performance. 

 
 PAS 38, Intangible Assets - Revaluation Method - Proportionate Restatement of Accumulated 

Amortization 
The amendments clarify that, upon revaluation of an intangible asset, the carrying amount of 
the asset shall be adjusted to the revalued amount, and the asset shall be treated in one of 
the following ways: 
a. The gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation 

of the carrying amount of the asset.  The accumulated amortization at the date of 
revaluation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and the 
carrying amount of the asset after taking into account any accumulated impairment 
losses. 

b. The accumulated amortization is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset. 

 
The amendments also clarify that the amount of the adjustment of the accumulated 
amortization should form part of the increase or decrease in the carrying amount accounted 
for in accordance with the Standard. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014.  The 
amendments shall apply to all revaluations recognized in annual periods beginning on or after 
the date of initial application of this amendment and in the immediately preceding annual 
period.  The amendments have no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. 
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Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle) 
 
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2011-2013 cycle) contain non-urgent but necessary 
amendments to the following standards: 

 
 PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards - Meaning of 

‘Effective PFRSs’ 
The amendment clarifies that an entity may choose to apply either a current standard or a 
new standard that is not yet mandatory, but that permits early application, provided either 
standard is applied consistently throughout the periods presented in the entity’s first PFRS 
financial statements.  This amendment is not applicable to the Group as it is not a first-time 
adopter of PFRS. 

 
 PFRS 3, Business Combinations - Scope Exceptions for Joint Arrangements 

The amendment clarifies that PFRS 3 does not apply to the accounting for the formation of a 
joint arrangement in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself.  The amendment 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and is applied prospectively. 
 

 PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement - Portfolio Exception 
The amendment clarifies that the portfolio exception in PFRS 13 can be applied to financial 
assets, financial liabilities and other contracts.  The amendment is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and is applied prospectively.  The amendment has no 
significant impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. 

 
 PAS 40, Investment Property 

The amendment clarifies the interrelationship between PFRS 3 and PAS 40 when classifying 
property as investment property or owner-occupied property.  The amendment stated that 
judgment is needed when determining whether the acquisition of investment property is the 
acquisition of an asset or a group of assets or a business combination within the scope of  
PFRS 3.  This judgment is based on the guidance of PFRS 3.  This amendment is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014 and is applied prospectively.  The 
amendment has no significant impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. 

 
The Group will adopt the following relevant standards and interpretations when these become 
effective.   
 

 PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, 
PFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase on the replacement of PAS 39 and applies to the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities as defined in PAS 39, 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  Work on impairment of financial 
instruments and hedge accounting is still ongoing, with a view to replacing PAS 39 in its 
entirety.  PFRS 9 requires all financial assets to be measured at fair value at initial 
recognition.  A debt financial asset may, if the fair value option (FVO) is not invoked, be 
subsequently measured at amortized cost if it is held within a business model that has the 
objective to hold the assets to collect the contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give 
rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal outstanding.  All other debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.  All equity financial assets are measured at fair value either through 
other comprehensive income (OCI) or profit or loss.  Equity financial assets held for trading 
must be measured at fair value through profit or loss.  For FVO liabilities, the amount of 
change in the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk must be 
presented in OCI.  The remainder of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, 
unless presentation of the fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would 
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.  All other PAS 39 classification and 
measurement requirements for financial liabilities have been carried forward into PFRS 9, 
including the embedded derivative separation rules and the criteria for using the FVO. 
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The Group has not conducted its full impact evaluation on the possible financial implications 
of the adoption of PFRS 9 hence the Group has opted not to early adopt PFRS 9 for its 2014 
financial reporting. 

 
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 

This Interpretation covers accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that 
undertake the construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors.  The 
Interpretation requires that revenue on construction of real estate be recognized only upon 
completion, except when such contract qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for 
under PAS 11, Construction Contracts, or involves rendering of services in which case 
revenue is recognized based on stage of completion.  Contracts involving provision of 
services with the construction materials and where the risks and reward of ownership are 
transferred to the buyer on a continuous basis will also be accounted for based on stage of 
completion.  The SEC and the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) have deferred 
the effectivity of this Interpretation until the final Revenue standard is issued by International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and an evaluation of the requirements of the final 
Revenue standard against the practices of the Philippine real estate industry is completed. 
 
The adoption of this Philippine Interpretation may significantly affect the determination of the 
revenue from real estate sales and the corresponding costs, and the related trade 
receivables, deferred tax liabilities and retained earnings accounts.  The Group is in the 
process of quantifying the impact of adoption of this Interpretation. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three 
(3) months or less from dates of placement and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in 
value. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 

a) Date of recognition – The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the 
parent company statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.  Purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace are recognized on the settlement date.  Derivatives are also recognized 
on a trade date basis. 

 
b) Initial recognition of financial instruments – All financial assets and financial liabilities are 

initially recognized at fair value.  Except for financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVPL), the initial measurement of financial assets and liabilities includes 
transaction costs.   

 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at 
FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) financial assets, AFS financial assets and loans and 
receivable.  The Group classifies its financial liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL, 
derivative liabilities and other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an 
active market.  The Group determines the classification of its investment at initial 
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every 
reporting date. 

 
The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are of the nature of loans and 
receivables, AFS financial assets, and other financial liabilities, respectively. 
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c) Determination of fair value – The fair value for financial instruments traded in active 
markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted market price or dealer price 
quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any 
deduction for transaction costs.  When current bid and asking prices are not available, 
the price of the most recent transaction provides evidence of the current fair value as 
long as there has been no significant change in economic circumstances since the time 
of the transaction. 

 
For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is 
determined by using appropriate valuation techniques.  Valuation techniques include net 
present value techniques, comparison to similar instruments for which market 
observable prices exist, options pricing models, and other relevant valuation models. 

 
d) Day 1 difference – Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different than 

the fair value from other observable current market transactions of the same instrument 
or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable 
market, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair 
value (a ‘Day 1’ difference) in profit or loss unless it qualifies for recognition as some 
other type of asset.  In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, the 
difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in profit or 
loss when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For 
each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 
1’ difference amount. 

 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market.  These are not entered into with the 
intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not designated as AFS or financial assets at 
FVPL.  This accounting policy relates to the Group’s statement of financial position captions 
“Cash and cash equivalents”, “Receivables” (excluding receivables attributable to employees) and 
“Due from related parties.” 

 
After initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairment losses.  Amortized cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate.  The amortization, if any, is included in profit or loss.  
 
The losses arising from impairment of loans and receivables are recognized in profit or loss under 
“Provision for impairment losses” account. 
 
AFS financial assets 
 
AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets which are designated as such or do not 
qualify to be classified as designated as at FVPL, HTM, or loans and receivables. 

 
Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition as AFS if they are purchased and held 
indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market 
conditions.  AFS financial assets include equity investments. 

 
After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are measured at fair value.  The unrealized gains 
and losses arising from the fair valuation of AFS financial assets are in other comprehensive 
income and are reported as “Unrealized gain on AFS financial assets” in the Group’s statement of 
financial position. 
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When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss, previously recognized under 
“Unrealized gain or loss on AFS financial assets” is recognized in profit or loss under “Other 
income” account or “Miscellaneous expenses” account.  Where the Group holds more than one 
investment in the same security, these are deemed to be disposed of on a first-in, first-out basis.  
The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognized in profit or loss under the 
“Miscellaneous expenses” account. 

 
Other financial assets are classified as current assets when the Group has the contractual right to 
receive cash or another financial asset from another entity within twelve (12) months from the 
reporting date. 
 
As of September 30, 2014 and December 2013, AFS financial assets comprise of quoted equity 
securities. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
 
Other financial liabilities pertain to issued financial instruments that are not classified or 
designated as financial liabilities at FVPL and contain contractual obligations to deliver cash or 
other financial assets to the holder or to settle the obligation other than the exchange of a fixed 
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.  After initial 
measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.   

 
This accounting policy applies primarily to the Group’s “Accounts and other payables”, “Due to 
related parties”, “Long-term debt”, and other obligations that meet the above definition (other than 
liabilities covered by other accounting standards, such as income tax payable and pension 
liabilities).   

 
Other financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities when it is expected to be settled within 
12 months from the financial position date or the Group does not have an unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months from the reporting date. 

 
Impairment of Financial Assets  
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one 
or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) 
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may 
include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults. 
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Loans and receivables 
 
For loans and receivables carried at amortized cost, the Group first assesses whether objective 
evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or 
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If there is objective evidence 
that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of loss is charged to the profit 
or loss.  Interest income continues to be recognized based on the original effective interest rate of 
the asset.  Receivables, together with the associated allowance accounts, are written off when 
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.  If, in a 
subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss, to the 
extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date. 

 
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for individually assessed 
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with 
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses for impairment.  Those characteristics 
are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of 
the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being 
evaluated.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss 
is, or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment for impairment. 

 
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis 
of such credit risk characteristics as type of counterparty, credit history, past due status and term. 

 
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are 
estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics 
similar to those in the Group.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current 
observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which 
the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical 
period that do not exist currently.  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future 
cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates 
and actual loss experience. 

 
AFS financial assets 
 
For AFS financial assets, the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

 
In the case of equity investments classified as AFS financial assets, this would include a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below their costs.  Where there 
is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income - is removed from other comprehensive 
income and recognized in profit or loss.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not 
reversed through profit or loss.  Increases in fair value after impairment are recognized directly in 
other comprehensive income. 
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In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS financial assets, impairment is assessed based 
on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost.  Future interest income is based 
on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount 
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring impairment loss.  Such accrual is recorded as part 
of “Interest income” in profit or loss.  If, in subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument 
increased and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

 
Derecognition of Financial Assets  
 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognized when: 

a) the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired; 
b) the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed as 

obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; or 

c) the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (i) 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or (ii) has neither 
transferred nor retained the risk and rewards of the asset but has transferred the control 
of the asset. 

 
Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 
a “pass-through” arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent 
of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of 
a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original carrying amount of the 
asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 

 
Derecognition of Financial liability 
 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled, 
or has expired.  Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender 
on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such 
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized 
in profit or loss. 

 
Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Group’s 
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 
Real Estate Inventories 
 
Real estate inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value (NRV).  

 
Cost includes those costs incurred for the development and improvement of the properties such 
as amounts paid to contractors for construction, capitalized borrowing costs, planning and design 
costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes, 
construction overheads and other related costs.   

 
NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale such as commissions. 
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Borrowing Costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets.  All other borrowing costs are expensed in 
the period they occur.  Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. 
 
The interest capitalized is calculated using the Group’s weighted average cost of borrowings after 
adjusting for borrowings associated with specific developments.  Where borrowings are 
associated with specific developments, the amounts capitalized is the gross interest incurred on 
those borrowings less any investment income arising on their temporary investment.  Interest is 
capitalized from the commencement of the development work until the date of practical 
completion.  The capitalization of finance cost is suspended if there are prolonged periods when 
development activity is interrupted.  Interest is also capitalized on the purchase cost of a site of 
property acquired specifically for development, but only where activities are necessary to prepare 
the asset for the development are in progress. 

 
Interest in Joint Venture 
 
Interest in joint venture is limited to jointly controlled operations entered into by the Group to 
various landowners for the development of the relevant real estate properties.  A jointly controlled 
operation involves the use of assets and other resources of the Group and such landowners 
rather than the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity.  The Group and such 
third parties recognize in their financial statements the assets that it controls and the liabilities that 
it incurs, the expenses it incurs and the share of income that it earns from the sale of goods or 
services by the joint venture.  Accordingly, the Group recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements the relevant assets and liabilities to the extent of its contribution to the joint venture. 
 
Investment Properties 
 
Initially, investment properties are measured at cost including certain transaction costs.  
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects 
market conditions at the reporting date.  The fair value of investment properties is determined by 
independent real estate valuation experts based on recent real estate transactions with similar 
characteristics and location to those of the Group’s investment properties.  Gains or losses arising 
from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period 
in which they arise. 
 
Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is 
expected from its disposal.  The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset is recognized in profit or loss in the period of derecognition. 
 
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use.  For a 
transfer from investment property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent 
accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use.  If owner occupied property becomes an 
investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated 
under property and equipment up to the date of change in use.  For a transfer from investment 
property to inventories, the change in use is evidenced by commencement of development with a 
view to sale. When the Group decides to dispose of an investment property without development, 
it continues to treat the property as an investment property until it is derecognized and does not 
treat it as inventory. Similarly, if an entity begins to redevelop an existing investment property for 
continued future use as investment property, the property remains an investment property and is 
not reclassified as owner-occupied property during the redevelopment.  
 
For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to inventories, the property's deemed 
cost for subsequent accounting shall be its fair value at the date of change in use. 
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Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and 
any impairment in value.  

 
The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including import duties, 
taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location 
for its intended use.  Expenditures incurred after the property plant and equipment have been put 
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance are normally charged against operations in the 
period in which the costs are incurred.  In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the 
expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be 
obtained from the use of an item of property plant and equipment beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of property and 
equipment. 

 
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment commences once the property and 
equipment are put into operational use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the property and equipment as follows: 

 
    Years  
 Office equipment   3 – 5 
 Computer equipment   3 – 5 
 Furniture and fixtures   3 – 5 
 Transportation equipment   5 
 Construction equipment   5 

 
Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the asset of five (5) years, whichever is shorter. 

 
The useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure 
that the period and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected 
pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 

 
When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related 
accumulated depreciation and amortization and accumulated provision for impairment losses, if 
any, are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited to or charged 
against current operations. 

 
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use and no further 
depreciation and amortization is charged against current operations. 

 
Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost.  Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses.  Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized 
development costs, are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in the profit or loss in the year 
in which the expenditure is incurred. 

 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 
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Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  The 
amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is 
reviewed at least at each financial year end.  Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by 
changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in 
accounting estimates.  The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is 
recognized in the expense category of the profit or loss consistent with the function of the 
intangible asset. 

 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment.  The 
assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues 
to be supportable.  If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective 
basis. 

 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in 
the Group’s statement of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognized. 

 
As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Group’s intangible assets consist of 
software costs and trademarks. 

 
a) Software costs – Intangible assets include costs associated with developing or 

maintaining computer software programs are recognized as an expense as incurred.  
Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software controlled by the 
Group and will generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are 
recognized as intangible assets to be measured at cost less accumulated amortization 
and accumulated impairment, if any.   

 
Expenditures which enhance or extend the performance of computer software programs 
beyond their original specifications are recognized as capital improvements and added 
to the original cost of the software.  System development costs, recognized as assets, 
are amortized using the straight-line method over their useful lives, but not exceeding a 
period of 5 years.  Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of 
system development costs is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount.  Otherwise, such costs are recognized as expense as incurred. 

 
b) Trademarks – Licenses for use of intellectual property have been granted for a period of 

ten (10) years by the relevant government agency.  The trademarks provide the option of 
renewal at little or no cost to the Group.  As a result, those licenses are assessed as 
having indefinite useful life. 

 
Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 
The Group assesses as at reporting date whether there is an indication that its non-financial 
assets (i.e., property and equipment and intangible assets) may be impaired.  If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is calculated as the 
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and 
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  Where the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  Impairment losses of 
continuing operations are recognized in the expense categories in profit or loss consistent with 
the function of the impaired asset. 
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An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss 
is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of accumulated 
depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior 
years.  Such reversal is recognized in the profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as revaluation increase.  After such a reversal, the 
depreciation and amortization charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised 
carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.  

 
Equity 
 
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued.  Incremental costs incurred directly 
attributable to the issuance of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from proceeds, net 
of tax. 
 
Retained Earnings 
 
Retained earnings represent accumulated earnings of the Group less any dividends declared, if 
any. 

 
Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the amount of revenue can be reliably measured.  The Group assesses its revenue 
arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent.  
The Group has concluded that it is acting as principal in all of its revenue arrangements.  The 
following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

 
a) Real estate sales – the Group assesses whether it is probable that the economic 

benefits will flow to the Group when the sales prices are collectible.  Collectibility of the 
sales price is demonstrated by the buyer’s commitment to pay, which in turn is supported 
by substantial initial and continuing investments that give the buyer a stake in the 
property sufficient that the risk of loss through default motivates the buyer to honor its 
obligation to the seller. Collectibility is also assessed by considering factors such as the 
credit standing of the buyer, age and location of the property. 

 
Revenue from sales of completed real estate projects is accounted for using the full 
accrual method. In accordance with Philippine Interpretations Committee (PIC) Q&A No. 
2006-01, the percentage-of-completion method is used to recognize income from sales 
of projects where the Group has material obligations under the sales contract to 
complete the project after the property is sold, the equitable interest has been 
transferred to the buyer, construction is beyond preliminary stage (i.e., engineering, 
design work, construction contracts execution, site clearance and preparation, 
excavation and the building foundation are finished), and the costs incurred or to be 
incurred can be measured reliably. Under this method, revenue is recognized as the 
related obligations are fulfilled, measured principally on the basis of the estimated 
completion of a physical proportion of the contract work. 
 
Any excess of collections over the recognized receivables are included in the 
“Customers’ advances and deposits” account in the “Liabilities” section of the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 
 

  



 
 

 19

If any of the criteria under the full accrual or percentage-of-completion method is not 
met, the deposit method is applied until all the conditions for recording a sale are met. 
Pending recognition of sale, cash received from buyers are presented under the 
“Customers’ advances and deposits” account in the “Liabilities” section of the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

 
b) Interest income – Interest income is recognized as it accrues (using the effective interest 

method that is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset). 

 
c) Income from cancelled sales – Income from cancelled sales is recognized when the 

deposits from potential buyers are deemed nonrefundable due to prescription of the 
period for entering into a contracted sale.  Such income is also recognized, subject to the 
provisions of Republic Act 6552, Realty Installment Buyer Protection (Maceda Law), 
upon prescription of the period for the payment of required amortizations from defaulting 
buyers.  

 
d) Commission income – Commission income is recognized by reference to the percentage 

of collection of the agreed sales price or depending on the term of the sale as provided 
under the marketing agreement. 

 
e) Dividend income – Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive the 

payment is established. 
 

f) Management fees – Revenue from property management and other services is 
recognized when the related services are rendered. 

 
g) Other income – Other customer related fees such as penalties and surcharges are 

recognized as they accrue, taking into account the provisions of the related contract. 
 

Cost and Expense Recognition 
 

a) Cost of real estate sales – Cost of real estate sales is recognized consistent with the 
revenue recognition method applied.  Cost of condominium units sold before the 
completion of the development is determined on the basis of the acquisition cost of the 
land plus its full development costs, which include estimated costs for future 
development works, as determined by the Group’s in-house technical staff. 

 
b) Commission and other selling expenses – Selling expenses such as commissions paid 

to sales or marketing agents on the sale of precompleted real estate units are deferred 
when recovery is reasonably expected and are charged to expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognized as earned. These are recorded as “Deferred 
selling expenses” under “Prepayments and other current assets” account.  Accordingly, 
when the percentage of completion method is used, commissions are likewise charged 
to expense in the period the related revenue is recognized. 

 
c) General and administrative expenses – General and administrative expenses constitute 

costs of administering the business and are expensed as incurred. 
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Pension Cost 
 
Retirement cost is computed using the projected unit credit method.  This method reflects 
services rendered by employees up to the date of valuation and incorporates assumptions 
concerning employees’ projected salaries.  Actuarial valuations are conducted with sufficient 
regularity, with an option to accelerate when significant changes to underlying assumptions occur.  
Pension cost includes current service cost, interest cost, expected return on any plan assets, 
actuarial gains and losses, past service cost and the effect of any curtailment or settlement.  

 
The liability recognized by the Group in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date together with adjustments for 
unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past service costs that shall be recognized in later 
periods.  The defined benefit obligation is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected 
unit credit method.  The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using risk-free interest rates of government bonds 
that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liabilities or applying 
a single weighted average discount rate that reflects the estimated timing and amount of benefit 
payments. 

 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense when the net cumulative 
unrecognized actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit plan at the end of the previous 
reporting year exceeded 10% of the higher of the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  These actuarial gains or losses are recognized over 
the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the defined 
benefit plan. 

 
The past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average 
period until the benefits become vested.  If the benefits are already vested immediately following 
the introduction of, or changes to, a retirement plan, past service cost is recognized immediately. 

 
Operating Leases 
 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance 
of the arrangement at inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the 
use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. A 
reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:  

a) There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the 
arrangement; 

b) A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or 
extension was initially included in the lease term; 

c) There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified 
asset; or 

d) There is substantial change to the asset. 
 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when 
the change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c), or (d) and at the 
date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).  
 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of the ownership of the 
asset are classified as operating leases. Fixed lease payments are recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the lease while the variable rent is recognized as an expense based on the terms of 
the lease contract. 
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Income Taxes 
 

a) Current tax – Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are 
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted as of the reporting date. 

 
b) Deferred tax – Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary 

differences, with certain exceptions, at the reporting date between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, including 
asset revaluations.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry forward benefit of unused tax credits from the excess of minimum 
corporate income tax (MCIT) over regular corporate income tax (RCIT), and unused net 
operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry 
forward of unused tax credits from excess MCIT over RCIT and unused NOLCO can be 
utilized.  Deferred tax, however, is not recognized on temporary differences that arise 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income 
nor taxable income. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.  Unrecognized 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
Foreign Currency Transactions  
 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially recorded using the exchange rates 
prevailing at transaction dates.  Foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are 
retranslated using the closing exchange rates at reporting date.  Exchange gains or losses arising 
from foreign currency transactions are credited or charged against current operations. 

 
Segment Reporting 
 
The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the 
nature of the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic 
business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. Financial information on 
the Group’s business segments is presented in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is 
recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. If the effect 
of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense. Provisions 
are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.   

 
Earnings Per Share 
 
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed by dividing net income attributable to common 
stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during 
the year and adjusted to give retroactive effect to any stock dividends declared during the period.  
Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income attributable to common equity holders by the 
weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the year plus the 
weighted average number of common shares that would be issued on conversion of all the 
dilutive potential common shares. The calculation of diluted EPS does not assume conversion, 
exercise or other issue of potential common shares that would have an antidilutive effect on 
earnings per share. 
 
For purposes of the share swap transaction, the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding (the denominator of the earnings per share calculation) is: 

a) the number of common shares outstanding from the beginning of the year to the 
transaction date shall be computed on the basis of the weighted average number of 
common shares of the CPI subs outstanding during the period multiplied by the 
exchange ratio established in the share swap agreement; and 

b) the number of common shares outstanding from the acquisition date to the reporting 
period shall be the actual number of ordinary shares of the Parent Company outstanding 
during that period. 

 
The basic earnings per share for each comparative period before the share swap date presented 
in the consolidated financial statements following the share swap shall be calculated by dividing 
the profit or loss of CPI subs attributable to common shareholders in each of those periods by CPI 
subs’s historical weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding multiplied by the 
exchange ratio established in the share swap agreement.  
 
As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Parent Company and CPI subs have no 
dilutive potential common shares. 
 
Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the Group’s financial statements but are disclosed 
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  
Contingent assets are not recognized in the Group’s financial statements but disclosed when an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable (see Note 17). 

 
Events After the Reporting Period 
 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the 
reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in the Group’s financial statements. Post year-end 
events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the Group’s financial statements when 
material. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNITNG JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
 

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements in compliance with PFRS requires the Group 
to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the parent company 
financial statements and notes.  The judgments, estimates and assumptions used in the 
accompanying Group’s financial statements are based upon management’s evaluation of relevant 
facts and circumstances as of the date of the Group’s financial statements.  Future events may 
occur which will cause the judgments and assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to 
change.  The effects of any change in judgments and estimates are reflected in the Group’s 
financial statements as they become reasonably determinable. 

 
Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

 
Judgments 

 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the Company’s financial statements. 

 
a) Revenue and cost recognition – Selecting an appropriate revenue recognition method for 

a particular real estate sale transaction requires certain judgments based on, among 
others: 

 Buyer’s commitment on the sale which may be ascertained through the 
significance of the buyer’s initial investment; and 

 Stage of completion of the project. 
 

b) Collectibility of the Sales Price – In determining whether the sales prices are collectible, 
the Group considers that initial and continuing investments by the buyer of about 5% 
would demonstrate the buyer’s commitment to pay as of September 30, 2014.   

 
c) Operating lease commitments (Group as lessee) – The Group has entered into contracts 

of lease with La Costa Development Corporation (formerly Penta Pacific Realty 
Corporation) and other unit owners of the Pacific Star Building for its administrative office 
location and model units for ongoing projects.  The Group has determined that these are 
operating leases since it does not bear substantially all the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership of these properties.  In determining significant risks and benefits of 
ownership, the Group considered, among others, the significance of the lease term as 
compared with the estimated useful life of the related asset. 

 
d) Distinction between investment properties and land held for future development –  The 

Group determines a property as investment property if such is not intended for sale in the 
ordinary course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental income and capital 
appreciation.  Land held for future development comprises property that is held for sale in 
the ordinary course of business. Principally, this is residential property that the Group 
develops and intends to sell before or on completion of construction. 

 
e) Distinction between investment properties and owner-occupied properties – The Group 

determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property.  In making its 
judgment, the Group considers whether the property generates cash flows largely 
independent of the other assets held by an entity.  Owner-occupied properties generate 
cash flows that are attributable not only to property but also to the other assets used in 
the production or supply process.  
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Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
and another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or 
for administrative purposes.  If these portions cannot be sold separately, the property is 
accounted for as an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in 
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.  Judgment is 
applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does 
not qualify as investment property.  The Group considers each property separately in 
making its judgment. 
 

f) Distinction between real estate inventories and land held for future development – The 
Group determines whether a land qualifies as land held for future development once the 
Group has a concrete plan on how the land shall be developed the following year.  The 
Group shall then classify the land as part of the real estate inventories upon the 
commencement of the actual development of the land. 

 
g) Impairment of AFS financial assets – The Group treats AFS financial assets as impaired 

when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or 
where other objective evidence of impairment exists.  The determination of what is 
‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment.  The Group treats ‘significant’ generally as 
20% or more of the original cost of investment and ‘prolonged’ as greater than six (6) 
months for quoted equity securities.  In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, 
including normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and 
the discount factors for unquoted equities. 

  
h) Provisions and Contingencies – The Group is currently involved in various legal 

proceedings.  The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these claims has 
been developed in consultation with outside counsel handling the defense in these 
matters and is based upon an analysis of potential results.  The Group currently does not 
believe that these proceedings will have a material effect on the Group’s financial 
position.  It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially 
affected by changes in the estimates or in the effectiveness of the strategies relating to 
these proceedings. 

 
Management’s Use of Estimates and Assumptions 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 
a) Revenue and cost recognition – The Group’s revenue recognition policies require 

management to make use of estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported 
amounts of revenue and costs.  The Group’s revenue from real estate recognized based 
on the percentage of completion are measured principally on the basis of the estimated 
completion of a physical proportion of the contract work, and by reference to the actual 
costs incurred to date over the estimated total costs of the project.  The rate of completion 
is validated by the responsible department to determine whether it approximates the 
actual completion rate.  Changes in estimate may affect the reported amounts of revenue 
and cost of real estate sales and receivables.  Carrying value of the real estate 
receivables amounted to P8,780.4 million and P8,091.8 million as of September 30, 2014 
and December 31, 2013, respectively (see Note 6). 
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b) Fair value of investment properties – The Group carries its investment properties at fair 
value, with changes in fair value being recognized in profit or loss.  The Group engages 
independent valuation specialists to determine the fair value.  For the investment 
property, the appraisers used a valuation technique based on comparable market data 
available for such properties. There was no gain or loss on changes in fair value of 
investment properties during the period ended September 30, 2014 and 2013.  Carrying 
value of the investment properties amounted to P4,366.8 million and P4,080.8 million as 
of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively (see Note 11). 

 
c) Estimating allowance for impairment losses – The Group reviews its loans and 

receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an allowance for impairment should 
be recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position and any changes thereto 
in profit or loss.  In particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of 
the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of allowance 
required.  Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors.  Actual 
results may also differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance. 

 
The Group maintains allowance for impairment losses based on the result of the 
individual and collective assessment under PAS 39. Under the individual assessment, the 
Group is required to obtain the present value of estimated cash flows using the 
receivable’s original effective interest rate. Impairment loss is determined as the 
difference between the receivables’ carrying balance and the computed present value.  
Factors considered in individual assessment are payment history, past-due status and 
term.  The collective assessment would require the Group to classify its receivables 
based on the credit risk characteristics (customer type, payment history, past due status 
and term) of the customers. Impairment loss is then determined based on historical loss 
experience of the receivables grouped per credit risk profile.  Historical loss experience is 
adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions 
that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to 
remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.  The 
methodology and assumptions used for the individual and collective assessments are 
based on management’s judgment and estimate. 

 
Therefore, the amount and timing of recorded expense for any period would differ 
depending on the judgments and estimates made for the period. 

 
As of September 30, 2014 and December 2013, the allowance for impairment losses on 
receivables of the Group amounted to P11.6 million (see Note 6). 

 
The carrying values of these assets as of September 30, 2014 are as follows 

  Receivables (Note 6)  P 9,229.1 
  Due from related parties    125.4 
 

d) Estimating NRV of real estate inventories and land held for future development – The 
Group reviews the NRV of real estate inventories and land held for future development 
and compares it with the cost since assets should not be carried in excess of amounts 
expected to be realized from sale. Real estate inventories and land held for future 
development are written down below cost when the estimated NRV is found to be lower 
than the cost. 

 
NRV for completed real estate inventories and land held for future development is 
assessed with reference to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting date 
and is determined by the Group having taken suitable external advice and in light of 
recent market transactions. 
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NRV in respect of inventory under construction is assessed with reference to market 
prices at the reporting date for similar completed property, less estimated costs to 
complete construction less an estimate of the time value of money to the date of 
completion.  The estimates used took into consideration fluctuations of price or cost 
directly relating to events occurring after the end of the period to the extent that such 
events confirm conditions existing at the end of the period. 
 
The carrying values of these assets as of September 30, 2014 are as follows: 

   
  Real estate inventories (Note 7)   P 8,902.3 
  Land held for future development (Note 8) 86.3 
 

e) Impairment of non-financial assets – The Group assesses impairment on its non-financial 
assets (e.g., property and equipment and intangible assets) and considers the following 
important indicators: 

 Significant changes in asset usage; 
 Significant decline in assets’ market value; 
 Obsolescence or physical damage of an asset; 
 Significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future 

operating results; 
 Significant changes in the manner of usage of the acquired assets or the strategy 

for the Group’s overall business; and 
 Significant negative industry or economic trends. 
 

The Group’s intangible assets with indefinite life are tested for impairment annually.  If 
such indications are present and where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the asset’s fair value less cost to sell. 
The fair value less cost to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an 
arm’s length transaction while value in use is the present value of estimated future cash 
flows expected to be generated from the continued use of the asset. The Group is 
required to make estimates and assumptions that can materially affect the carrying 
amount of the asset being assessed. 
 
The carrying values of the non-financial assets as of September 30, 2014 are shown 
below. 

   
  Property and equipment   P 123.3 
  Intangible assets    36.7 
 

f) Estimating useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets – The  Group 
estimates the useful lives of its property and equipment and intangible assets based on 
the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use.  The Group 
reviews annually the estimated useful lives of these assets based on factors that include 
asset utilization, internal technical evaluation, technological changes, environmental and 
anticipated use of the assets tempered by related industry benchmark information.  It is 
possible that future results of operations could be materially affected by changes in these 
estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned.  A reduction in the 
estimated useful lives of these assets would increase depreciation and amortization 
expense and decrease noncurrent assets.  Property and equipment amounted to P123.3  
million and P157.8 million as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013. 
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g) Recognition of deferred tax assets – The Group reviews the carrying amounts of deferred 
tax assets at each reporting date and reduces the amounts to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax assets to be utilized.  Significant judgment is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized based upon the likely timing and 
level of future taxable income together with future planning strategies.  The Group 
assessed its projected performance in determining the sufficiency of the future taxable 
income.  As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, carrying values of these 
assets amounted to P149.4 million and P124.7 million, respectively. 

 
As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Group has unrecognized 
deferred tax assets amounting to P109.08 million, which pertain to NOLCO and MCIT.  
Management believes that it is not probable that sufficient taxable income will be 
available to allow all of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. 

 
h) Estimating pension obligations – The determination of the obligation and cost of 

retirement benefits is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by 
actuaries in calculating such amounts.  Those assumptions include among others, 
discount rates and salary increase rates.  While the Group believes that the assumptions 
are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the actual experience or 
significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the pension obligations. 

 
As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the carrying value of the Group’s 
pension liabilities amounted to P149.4 million and P142.7 million, respectively. 

 
i) Fair value of financial instruments – Where the fair values of financial assets and financial 

liabilities recorded in the Group’s statement of financial position or disclosed in the notes 
cannot be derived from active markets; they are determined using internal valuation 
techniques using generally accepted market valuation models.  The inputs to these 
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, 
estimates are used in establishing fair values.  These estimates may include 
considerations of liquidity, volatility, and correlation. 
 

j) Capitalization of borrowing costs – The Group capitalizes the interest incurred on their 
borrowings that are directly attributable to the construction of its projects.  These 
capitalized borrowing costs form part of the real estate inventories and are expensed out 
to cost of real estate sales. 

 
The amount of borrowing costs capitalized amounted to P178.8 million and P238.4 million 
during the period ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

 
 
4. SEGMENT REPORTING 
 
Business segment information is reported on the basis that is used internally for evaluating segment 
performance and deciding how to allocate resources among operating segments.  Accordingly, the 
segment information is reported based on the nature of service the Group is providing. 
 
The segments where the Group operate follow: 

 Real estate development - sale of high-end, upper middle-income and affordable residential 
lots and units and lease of residential developments under partnership agreements ·  

 
 Property management - facilities management of the residential and corporate developments 

of the Group and other third party projects, including provision of technical and related 
consultancy services. 
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Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently 
with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.  Details of the Group’s operating 
segments as of and for the period ended September 30, 2014 are as follows: 
 
  

 Real Estate 

Development 
Leasing 

Property 

Management 

Adjustments and 

Elimination 
Consolidated 

Revenue      
 Real estate sales, leasing, property  
  management and other fees P   7,534.0 P   106.0 P   217.3   (P   (303.8) P  7,553.5 
Costs and expenses      

 Cost of real estate sales and services 4,299.1 0.0 168.0  0.0 4,467.1 
 General, administrative and selling  
  expenses 1,463.8 85.1 36.3  0.0 1,585.2 
Operating income 1,771.1 20.9 13.0   (303.8) 1,501.2 
Other income/(expenses)      

 Interest and other income 1,269.2  0.0 0.0  (356.4)  912.8 
 Interest and other financing charges (117.7)  (28.4) (2.4)   13.8 (134.7) 
Income before income tax 2,922.6  (7.5) 10.6   (646.4)  2,279.3 
Provision for income tax 681.6  0.0 5.9   0.0 687.5 
Net income 2,241.0  (7.5)  4.8  (646.5) 1,591.8 
      

Net income attributable to:      

 Owners of the parent company 2,241.0  (7.5)   4.8  (646.5)   1,591.8 

 Non-controlling interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
 2,241.0  (7.5)  4.8  (646.5) 1,591.8 
      

Other Information      

 Segment assets 40,354.6  2,535.9  131.8   (12,623.0)  30,399.3 

 Deferred tax assets 139.1 0.0 10.3  0.0 149.4 

 Total assets 40,493.7  2,535.9 142.1   (12,623.0)  30,548.7 
      

 Segment liabilities 21,772.4 1,187.8  121.6   (7,402.0)  15,679.7 

 Deferred tax liabilities 2,028.7  0.0 0.0  0.0 2,028.7 

 Total liabilities P  23,801.1  P  1,187.8  P   121.6   (P  7,402.0) P  17,708.4 
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5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
This account consists of: 
 
  Cash on hand and in banks   P 756.3  
  Cash equivalents     2,097.2 
    P 2,853.5 
 
Cash in banks earns interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates. Cash equivalents are short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are made for varying periods of up to three (3) months depending on the 
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the prevailing short-term rates 
ranging from 1.5% to 4.5% 
 
 
6. RECEIVABLES 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Trade receivables 
  Real estate   P 8,780.4 
  Management fee     69.9 
  Auction fee and commissions     2.4 
  Receivable from employees     249.3 
  Advances to customers     23.8 
  Other receivables     115.0 
      9,240.8 
 Allowance for impairment losses   (  11.6 ) 
      9,229.2 
 Noncurrent portion of real estate receivables    3,213.1 
    P 6,016.1 
 
  
Real estate receivables pertain to receivables from the sale of real estate properties including 
residential condominium units and subdivision house and lots.  These are collectible in monthly 
installments over a period of one to five years and bear no interest.  Titles to real estate properties are 
not transferred to the buyer until full payment has been made. 

 
Management fees are revenues arising from property management contracts.  These are collectible 
on a 15- to 30-day basis depending on the terms of the service agreement. 

 
Auction fees and commissions are revenues earned by the Group in facilitating auction of properties 
and in marketing real estate properties developed by third parties and affiliates.  Receivable from 
auction fees and commissions are due within 30 days upon billing. 

 
Receivable from employees pertain to cash advances for retitling costs, taxes and other operational 
and corporate-related expenses.  This also includes salary and other loans granted to the employees 
and are recoverable through salary deductions.   

 
Advances to customers pertain to expenses paid by the Group in behalf of the customers for the 
taxes and other costs incurred in securing the title in the name of the customers.  These receivables 
are billed separately to the respective buyers and are expected to be collected within one (1) year. 

 
Other receivables pertain to the amount collectible from customers related to accruals made by the 
Group for VAT on real estate sales.  These will be collected along with the monthly installments from 
customers over a period of one to five years. Other receivables are due and demandable and bear no 
interest. 
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7. REAL ESTATE INVENTORIES 
 
This account represents the real estate projects for which the Group has been granted license to sell 
by the Housing and Land Use Regulatory Board of the Philippines. Details of this account follow: 
 
 Condominium units   P 8,774.5 
 Residential house and lots     127.8 
     P 8,902.3 
 
The rollforward of this account follows: 
 
 At January 1    P 7,178.0 
 Construction costs incurred     5,844.6 
 Borrowing cost capitalized     178.8 
 Cost of real estate sales   (  4,299.1 ) 
 At June 30    P 8,902.3 
 
General borrowings were used to finance the Group’s ongoing real estate projects. The related 
borrowing costs were capitalized as part of real estate inventories. The capitalization rate used to 
determine the borrowings eligible for capitalization ranges from 4.9% to 9.0%.  
 
Real estate inventories recognized as “Cost of real estate sales” amounted to P4,299.1 million. 
Such cost of sales is derived based on the standard cost for the current reporting period. 
 
The Group has no inventories carried at fair value.  Carrying amount pledged as security for liabilities 
totals P4,645.5 million. 
 
 
8. LAND HELD FOR FUTURE DEVELOPMENT 
 
Land held for future development consists of parcels of lot acquired by the Group for future real estate 
development.  As of September 30, 2014, this account consists of land held by CLC and CCC. 
 
 
9. ADVANCES TO SUPPLIERS AND CONTRACTORS 
 
Advances to suppliers and contractors amounting to P629.2 million as of September 30, 2014 are 
recouped upon every progress billing payment depending on the percentage of accomplishment. 
 
 
10. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Deferred selling expenses   P 572.7 
 Creditable withholding taxes    279.4 
 Input taxes     653.1 
 Prepaid expenses     19.2 
 Advances to land owners     236.8 
 Tax credit certificates    1.0 
 Others     72.7 
    P 1,834.9 
 
Deferred selling expenses pertain to costs incurred in selling real estate projects prior to its 
development. These capitalized costs shall be charged to expense in the period in which the 
construction begins and the related revenue is recognized. 
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Advances to land owners represent the minimum share of the lot property owners in relation to the 
joint venture projects of the Group. In accordance with the respective joint venture agreements, CCC 
and CLC advanced these shares in significant installments throughout the term of the project. The 
advances shall be deducted from the proceeds of the sales and collection of the land owners’ units. 
Management has assessed that the settlement of these advances is within one year based on the 
pre-selling and development activities that are currently in progress. In addition, this includes the 
expenses shouldered by CLC that are attributable to the land owners in accordance with the joint 
venture agreement, which shall also be applied to the subsequent remittance on the land owners’ 
share in the joint venture project. 
 
Tax credit certificates pertain to the Group’s claims granted by the Bureau of Internal Revenue in 
relation to income and value added tax refunds.  
 
Creditable withholding taxes are attributable to taxes withheld by third parties arising from property 
management fees. 
 
Input taxes are fully realizable and will be applied against output VAT. Tax credit certificates and 
creditable withholding taxes will be applied against income tax payable. Prepaid expenses mostly 
pertain to prepayments of insurance premiums which will be applied throughout the remaining term of 
the related contracts. Balances include prepayments pertaining to marketing expenses which will be 
expensed upon the recognition of the revenue on the related project. 
 
 
11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 
Movements in this account follow: 
 
 At January 1   P 4,080.8 
 Improvements     286.0 
 At September 30   P 4,366.8 
 
Investment properties with an original cost of P170.8 million represent the portions CCDC lots that are 
intended to be developed for commercial and retail purposes and to be subsequently leased out to 
third parties. The Group's investment properties are classified as shown below: 
 
 Undeveloped land  P 4,058.0 
 Under construction     308.8 
 At September 30   P 4,366.8 
 
Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuations 
performed by Cuervo Appraisers, Inc., an accredited independent valuer, as of December 31, 2012.  
Cuervo Appraisers, Inc. is an industry specialist in valuing these types of investment properties.  The 
value of the land was estimated by using the Sales Comparison Approach, an approach to value that 
considers the sales of similar or substitute properties and related market data and establishes a value 
estimate by processes involving comparison. 
 
The Group implemented changes in the business plan for certain lots of the ISMI properties previously 
intended for leasing purposes during the following periods:. 
 
In 2010, one of the lots with a fair value of P427.9 million was utilized for the development of Centuria 
Medical Towers, a project of Centuria Medical Development Corporation, wherein the relevant units 
will be for sale.  Such property was reclassified under the “Real estate inventories” with the latest fair 
value of the lot as its deemed cost. 
 
In 2011, lots with fair value of P1,019.8 million and P339.1 million will be developed by the Group into 
a residential condominium building and commercial and office buildings, respectively, which will be 
available for sale. 
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Except for the change in the fair value investment properties, the Group did not earn any revenue 
from the use of the said real properties or incurred any direct operating expenses in relation to these 
investment properties. 
 
 
12. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Rental deposits   P 57.3 
 Others     1,003.2 
    P 1,060.5 
 
Rental deposits mostly pertain to security deposits held and applied in relation to the Group’s lease 
contracts for their administrative and sales offices.  The deposits are noninterest-bearing and are 
recoverable through application of rentals at the end of the lease term. 
 
 
13. ACCOUNTS AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
This account consists of: 
 
 Accounts payable  P 3,351.6 
 Accrued expenses    52.7 
 Retention payable    74.2 
 Payable to related parties      22.9   
     P 3,501.4   
 
Accounts payable are attributable to the construction costs incurred by the Group. These are 
noninterest-bearing and are normally settled on 15-to 60-day terms. Accrued expenses consist mainly 
of utilities, marketing costs, professional fees, communication, transportation and travel, security, 
insurance, representation and taxes payable. 
 
Retention payables are noninterest-bearing and are normally settled on a 30-day term upon 
completion of the relevant contracts.  
 
 
14. CUSTOMERS’ ADVANCES AND DEPOSITS 
 
The Group requires buyers of residential units to pay a minimum percentage of the total selling price 
as deposit before a sale transaction is recognized. In relation to this, the customers’ advances and 
deposits represent payments from buyers which have not reached the minimum required percentage. 
When the level of required payment is reached by the buyer, a sale is recognized and these deposits 
and down payments will be applied against the related installment contracts receivable. 
 
The account also includes the excess of collections over the recognized receivables based on 
percentage of completion. As of September 30, 2014 customers' advances and deposits amounted to 
P1,296.6 million. 
 
 
  



 
 

 33

15. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
Short-term Debt 
Short-term debt consists of: 
 
 Bank loans - Philippine Peso  P 5.9 
 Trust receipts      564.6 
    P 570.5 
 
Trust receipts (TRs) are obtained for the purchase of construction materials for CCDC’s and CLC’s 
projects with a weighted average interest rate of 5.8% per annum payable monthly or quarterly in 
arrears and full payment of principal balance is at maturity of one year with option to prepay or 
partially pay principal before maturity. 

 
Bank loans, pertain to short-term promissory note (PN) amounting to P5.9 million and P6.9 million as 
of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, which was obtained in 2009 from a 
local bank for CPMI's additional working capital requirements.  This was renewed by CPMI each year 
for the same terms and rates of interest.  The PN has a term of one (1) year, the full payment of which 
is to be made at maturity date at a fixed interest rate of 6.74% per annum (p.a.). 
 
Long-term Debt 
Long-term debt consists of: 
 Subsidiaries: 
  Payable under CTS financing    P 1,787.2 
  Bank loan - Philippine Peso     5,394.8 
      7,182.0 
 Less current portion   (  1,269.0 ) 
     P 5,913.0 
 
Payable under CTS financing 
 
In 2014, CPGI, CCDC and CLC also obtained CTS financing from local banks amounting to P3,350.0 
million.  These loans bear fixed interest rates ranging from 6.0% to 8.5%. 
 
The proceeds of the loans were used in the construction of its real estate projects subject to interest 
rate ranging from 6.0% to 8.5% per annum.  The related promissory notes have terms ranging from 
thirty-six (36) to forty-eight (48) months and are secured by the buyer’s post-dated checks, the 
corresponding CTS, and parcels of land held by the Company.  CCDC and CLC retains the assigned 
receivables in the “Trade receivables” account and records the proceeds from these sales as “Long-
term debt” (see Note 5). 
 
Bank loan – Philippine Peso 
 
In 2014, CCDC obtained loans from local banks amounting to P500.0 million to finance the 
construction of its projects. 
 
In 2013 and 2012, CCDC obtained loans from local banks amounting to P533.9 million and P606.7 
million, respectively to finance the construction costs of its projects at interest rate ranging from 6.25% 
to 8.5% payable in three to five years.  In 2013, CCDC fully paid one of its bank loans. 
 
In 2012, MDC increased their funding requirements to finance the construction of the Milano 
Residences.  MDC obtained a peso-denominated loan from a local bank amounting to  
P413.4 million with a term of up to five years at interest rate of 10% per annum.  In 2013, the 
Company fully paid the outstanding balance of this loan. 
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During 2013 and 2012, CLC obtained a peso-denominated loan from a local bank amounting to 
P322.0 million and P400.0 million, respectively, with terms of two years at interest rate of 1% per 
annum or the prevailing three month PDST-F on Interest Setting Date plus a credit spread of 3.5% per 
annum, whichever is higher.  Principal repayment is scheduled within two years from and after the 
date of the initial borrowing, inclusive of a grace period of one year on principal repayment.  
Additionally in 2012, CLC obtained a P500.0 million secured transferrable term loan facility at interest 
rate of 2.75% per annum plus bank’s cost of funds.  Principal payment is scheduled within three years 
from the date of the agreement. 
 
These bank loans contain negative covenant that the Group’s payment of dividend is subject to 
certain financial ratios. 
 
Also in 2013, CLC obtained additional loans from certain local bank amounting to P722.1 million.  This 
loan bears a fixed interest rate of 9.00% payable within 3 years. 
 
On June 11, 2013, the Parent Company entered into a loan syndication agreement with Standard 
Chartered Bank (SCB) to finance the planned construction and development of its properties.  The 
loan has a facility agreement up to P4.2 billion. The Company has received the funds with an 
aggregate amount of P2,860.1 million as of June 30, 2014.  The loan syndication agreement is 
secured by the parcels of land owned by CCDC under various Transfer Certificates of Title and 
various buildings under projects Century City, Azure Urban Resort Residences and Acqua Private 
Residences. 
 
Consequently, the Parent Company has incurred transaction costs attributable to the loan syndication 
agreement totaling P72.3 million.  These transactions costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the loan syndication agreement are currently deferred and will be recognized over the 
term of the loan using effective interest rate method when the loan are recognized. 
 
These bank loans contain negative covenant that the Group’s payment of dividend is subject to 
certain financial ratios. 
 
Certain bi-lateral, LCTR and syndicated term loans have mortgaged property wherein such property 
can no longer allowed to be separately used as collateral for another credit facility, grant loans to 
directors, officers and partners, and act as guarantor or surety in favor of banks (see Note 7). 
 
Certain bi-laterals have the covenants to include maintenance of a debt-to-equity ratio of not more 
than 2.33 and 3.0, and a debt service coverage ratio of at least 1.5x.  The syndicated term loan has a 
covenant, specific to the projects it is financing, of having loan to security value of no more than 50% 
and loan to gross development value of no more than 20%. Security value includes, among other 
things, valuation appraised by independent appraisers and takes into account the sold and unsold 
sales / market value of the properties. 
 
Car loan financing 
In 2013 and 2012, the Group, through CCDC and CPMI, entered into bank financing agreement for 
installment payments of its transportation equipment amounting to nil and P4.7 million, respectively.  
The said assets were acquired under a joint financing plan between the Group and its managerial 
level employees and are capitalized and depreciated over their EUL of five years.  The same 
transportation equipment is held on chattel mortgage by the bank as security.  The loan, which bears 
interest ranging from 12.21% to 12.88% and payable within (5) years, amounted to nil and P1.13 
million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 
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Bond payable 
Bond payable consists of the following: 
 Three year bond  P 1,187.4 
 Five-and-half year bond     1,393.5 
 Seven year bond     119.1 
    P 2,700.0 
 
In 2014, CPGI raised P2.7 billion worth of SEC-registered Unsecured Fixed Rate Peso Retail Bonds 
due on 2 September 2017 for the Three Year Bonds, on 2 March 2020 for the Five-and-half Year 
Bonds and on 2 September 2021 for the Seven Year Bonds.  
 
The CPGI bonds which were listed at the Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx) on September 
2, 2014, have interest rates of 6% p.a. for the Three Year Bonds, 6.6878% p.a. for the Five-and-a-half 
Year Bonds, and 6.9758 % p.a. for the Seven Year Bonds. The CPGI Bonds have been rated “AA+” 
with a Stable outlook by the Credit Rating and Investor Services Philippines Inc. (CRISP). An “AA+” 
reflects very strong capacity to repay debt obligations.” 
 
Interest Expense 
Interest expense recognized during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 for the short-term 
and long-term debts amounted to P134.70 million. 
 
 
16. EQUITY 
 

Capital Stock 
The details of the Parent Company’s common shares follow: 
 

 2013 2012 2011
Authorized shares 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000
Par value per share P0.53 P0.53 P0.53
Issued and subscribed shares 9,699,724,027 8,899,724,027 7,566,391,027

 
Placement and Subscription Agreement between the Parent Company and CPI 
On February 18, 2012, the Parent Company entered into a Placement Agreement with CPI, UBS 
AG (UBS) and Macquarie Capital (Singapore) Pte. Limited (Macquarie) wherein CPI has 
appointed UBS and Macquarie to offer 1,333,333,000 existing common shares (the Offer Shares) 
of the Parent Company at P1.75 per share (the Offer Price) outside the United States in reliance 
on Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act.  On the same day, the Parent Company and CPI 
entered into a Subscription Agreement wherein CPI has agreed to subscribe for the new common 
shares to be issued by the Parent Company in an amount equal to the number of the Offer 
Shares sold by CPI at a price equal to the Offer Price. 
 
On March 5, 2013, the Parent Company entered into a Subscription and Placement Agreement 
with CPI, Standard Chartered Securities (Singapore) Pte. Limited (Standard Charter) and 
Macquarie Capital (Singapore) Pte. Limited (Macquarie) wherein CPI has appointed Standard 
Chartered and Macquarie to offer 800,000,000 existing common shares (the Offer Shares) of the 
Parent Company at P2.05 per share (the Offer Price) outside the United States in reliance on 
Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act.  On the same day, the Parent Company and CPI 
entered into a Subscription Agreement wherein CPI has agreed to subscribe for the new common 
shares to be issued by the Parent Company in an amount equal to the number of the Offer 
Shares sold by CPI at a price equal to the Offer Price. 
 
Treasury shares  
On January 7, 2013, the BOD of the Parent Company approved a share buyback program for 
those shareholders who opt to divest of their shareholdings in the Parent Company.  A total of 
P800.0 million worth of shares will be up for buyback for a time period of up to 24 months. 
 
As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, a total of 16.2 million shares were reacquired 
at a total cost of P24.7 million. 
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Retained earnings 
Retained earnings include the accumulated equity in undistributed net earnings of consolidated 
subsidiaries amounting to P3,743.6 million, P2,083.3 million and P321.0 million as of  
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  These amounts are not available for dividend 
declaration until these are declared by the subsidiaries. 
 
On April 30, 2014, the BOD of the Parent Company approved the declaration of P0.02 per share 
cash dividends amounting to P184.5 million for distribution to the stockholders of the Parent 
Company of record as of May 15, 2014. 
 
On April 15, 2013, the BOD of the Parent Company approved the declaration of P0.02 per share 
cash dividends amounting to P184.4 million for distribution to the stockholders of the Parent 
Company of record as of April 29, 2013.  On April 13, 2012, the BOD of the Parent Company 
approved the declaration of P0.01 cash dividends amounting to P86.4 million for distribution to the 
stockholders of the Parent Company of record as of April 27, 2012. 
 
On May 16, 2013, the BOD by majority vote approved resolutions for the following corporate acts: 
 
(1) Approval on the increase in capital stock from P5,300.0 million, divided into 10 billion common 
shares, par value of P0.53 peso per share, to P9,540.0 million divided into 18 billion common 
shares, par value of P0.53 peso per share; 

 
(2) Approval on the increase in the authorized capital stock of the Parent Company at a price of 
P0.53 per share or at an aggregate price equivalent to P4,240.0 million and the corresponding 
payment thereof by way of the declaration of stock dividends equivalent to P2,000.0 million 
common shares amounting to P1,060.0 million to be taken out of the Parent Company’s retained 
earnings.  This amount represents at least the minimum 25% subscribed and paid-up capital for 
the increase of the authorized capital stock from 10 billion shares to 18 billion common shares 
with par value of P0.53 per share to be issued as stock dividends to all shareholders as of record 
date; 
 
(3) that the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), be authorized to fix the total number of shares to be 
declared as dividends by the Parent Company subject to shareholders’ approval on the 
implementation and distribution date of such dividend shares; 
 
(4) Approval on the authority of the BOD to declare a stock dividend program for all stockholders 
as of record date subject to the existence of sufficient unrestricted retained earnings; and 
 
(5) Approval of the authority of the CFO to sign, execute any documents or instruments which 
may be necessary or proper to implement the declaration of stock dividends under such other 
terms and conditions as provided by law. 
  
On July 1, 2013, at the Annual Stockholders Meeting, the Shareholders of the Parent Company 
ratified and approved the resolutions as approved by the majority of the BOD at a special meeting 
on May 16, 2013, by a vote of the Stockholders present in person or by proxy owning at least two 
thirds (2/3) of the outstanding capital stock. 
 
The shareholders of the Parent Company further approved and consented that the determination 
of the details of the increase in authorized capital stock and the declaration of stock dividends is 
delegated to the Management of the Parent Company on the implementation and distribution date 
of such dividend shares and that the CFO, be authorized to fix the total number of shares to be 
declared as dividends by the Parent Company. 
 
Given the resolutions approved by both the BOD and stockholders, as of current date, the 
Management still has to finalize the implementation of stock dividends and such, the process of 
the increase in capital stock to warrant the declaration of dividends. 
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Although the amount of dividends was determined and approved by both BOD and stockholders, 
not all conditions pre-requisites are met by the Parent Company to subject it as a dividend 
declaration event, there were no actual application to the SEC on the increase in capital stock via 
stock dividend has been applied for, the necessary SEC Order on the approval of the increase in 
capital stock and record date has not been satisfied due to the fact that the Parent Company has 
not yet implemented such increase in capital stock application with the SEC and the Parent 
Company has not applied for listing of such shares and secure approval from the PSE. 

 
At a special meeting of the Board of Directors held on June 23, 2014, the Board of Directors of 
Century Properties Group Inc. approved the following resolutions: 

 
(1) Approval of the increase in the authorized capital stock of Century Properties Group Inc. (the 
“Corporation”) from Five Billion Three Hundred Million Pesos (Php5,300,000,000.00), divided into 
10,000,000,000 common shares, par value of Php0.53 Peso per share, to Nine Billion Five 
Hundred Forty Million Pesos (Php9,540,000,000.00) divided into Eighteen Billion 18,000,000,000 
common shares with par value of Php0.53 per share 

  
(2)  Approval, ratification and confirmation; subject to the consents and approvals, of the increase 
in the authorized capital stock of the Corporation at a price of Php0.53 per share or at an 
aggregate price equivalent to Four Billion Two Hundred Forty Million Pesos 
(Php4,240,000,000.00)  and the corresponding payment thereof by way of the declaration of 
Stock Dividends equivalent to Two Billion (2,000,000,000) common shares amounting to One 
Billion Sixty Million Pesos (Php1,060,000,000.00) to be taken out of the Corporation’s retained 
earnings.  This amount represents at least the minimum 25% subscribed and paid-up capital for 
the increase of the authorized capital stock from Ten Billion common shares to Eighteen Billion 
common shares with par value of Php0.53 per share; to be issued as stock dividends to all 
shareholders as of record date 

 
The aforesaid resolutions were approved by the Stockholders during the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting held last July 23, 2014. 
 
Thus, Management intends to address the actual filing of the increase in capital stock, and 
execute the necessary updated resolutions subject to both the approval of the SEC and PSE.  
 
Equity reserve 
Equity reserve amounting to P7.0 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, is the difference 
between the acquisition cost and the adjusted carrying value of the noncontrolling interest in 
CPMI. 

 
Capital management 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong 
and healthy consolidated statement of financial position to support its current business operations 
and drive its expansion and growth in the future.   

 
The Group maintains its current capital structure, and will make adjustments, if necessary, in 
order to generate a reasonable level of returns to shareholders over the long term.  No changes 
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during 2013 and 2012.  Equity, which the 
Group considers as capital, pertains to the equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 
Company excluding equity reserve, loss on AFS financial assets and remeasurement loss on 
defined benefit plan, amounting to a total of P11,501.7 million, P8,283.3 million and P4,334.4 
million as of December 31, 2013, 2012 and January 1, 2012, respectively.  
 
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
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17. PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Some members of the Group are contingently liable for lawsuits or claims filed by third parties 
(including civil, criminal and administrative lawsuits and other legal actions and proceedings arising in 
the ordinary course of their business that are pending decision by the relevant court, tribunal or body 
and the final outcomes of which are not presently determinable). In the opinion of management and 
its legal counsels, given the present status of these cases, legal actions and proceedings, the 
eventual liability under these lawsuits or claims in the event adversely determined against such 
member of the Group, will not have a material or adverse effect on the Group's financial position and 
results of operations. 
 
The information usually required by PAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, 
is not disclosed on the grounds that it can be expected to prejudice the outcome of these lawsuits, 
claims or assessments. No provisions were made during the period. 
 
 
18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Fair Value Information 
The table below presents the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities are as follows: 
 
     September 2014     December2013   
     Carrying          Carrying       
     Value     Fair Value     Value    Fair Value   
Loans and receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents  P 2,853.5      P 2,853.5      P 1,438.9   P 1,438.9  
Receivables 
 Trade receivables             
 Real estate    8,780.4       8,780.4       8,091.8    8,091.8  
 Management fee    69.9       69.9                 59.8    59.8 
 Auction fee and             
 Commissions    2.4       2.4          2.4    2.4 
 Advances to customers    23.8       23.8    54.3    54.3 
 Receivable from employees    249.3     249.3            299.8    299.8 
 Other receivables    114.9       114.9    430.4   430.4 
Due from related parties    125.4       125.4    177.3   177.3 
     12,219.6    12,219.6   10,554.6   10,554.6 
Derivative asset    74.7    74.7   29.9   29.9  
AFS financial assets    9.5    9.5    9.5   9.5 
Total Financial Assets  P 12,303.8  P 12,303.8  P 10,594.0  P 10,594.0 
Other financial liabilities 
Accounts and other payables 

Accounts payable    3,351.6       3,351.6    4,217.2   4,217.2 
Accrued expenses    52.7       52.7    142.8   142.8 
Payable to MJCI         −    151.5   151.5 
Retention payable    74.2       74.2    75.8   75.8 
Other payables    22.9     22.9    41.9   41.9 

Due to related parties    34.1      34.1    31.9   31.9 
Short-term debt    573.5       573.5      579.7   579.7 
Long-term debt    7,182.0    7,182.0    5,459.4   6,387.5 
Bond payable    2,700.0    2,700.0    -    - 
Liability from purchased land    30.7       30.7    30.7   30.7 
Total Financial Liabilities  P 14,021.7  P 14,021.7  P 10,730.9  P 11,659.0 
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The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair value of the financial 
instruments are as follows: 
 
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents, receivables (excluding real estate receivables with more than one year 
tenor) and due from related parties - Carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the short term 
maturities of these instruments. 
 
Noncurrent real estate receivables - Fair value is based on undiscounted value of future cash flows 
using the prevailing interest rates for similar types of receivables as of the reporting date using the 
remaining terms of maturity. The discount rate used ranged from 3.20% to 8.00% or the period ending 
September 30, 2014 and year ended December 31, 2013. 
 
AFS financial assets - Fair values are based on quoted prices published in the market. 
Other financial liabilities 
The fair values of accounts and other payables, due to related parties and short-term debt 
approximate the carrying amount due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 
 
The fair value of long-term debt and liability from purchased land are estimated using the discounted 
cash flow methodology using the Group’s current incremental borrowing rates for similar borrowings 
with maturities consistent with those remaining for the liability being valued. The discount rates used 
for long-term debt ranged from 2.50% to 4.44% as of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013.  
 
Fair Value Hierarchy 
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of the financial 
instruments by valuation technique: 
 
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted prices) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities 
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 
are observable, either directly or indirectly. 
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that 
are not based on observable market data. 
 
As of September 30, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Group held AFS financial assets comprising 
of quoted equity securities which are measured at fair value. Accordingly, such investments are 
classified under Level 1. The Group has no financial instruments measured under Level 2 and 3.  In 
2014 and 2013, the Group did not have transfers between Level 1 and 2 fair value measurements and 
no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements. 
 
Financial Risk Management Policies and Objectives 
The Group has various financial assets and liabilities such as cash, receivables, accounts and other 
payables and due to related parties, which arise directly from its operations. The Group has availed 
short-term and long-term debt for financing purposes. 
 
Exposure to credit, interest rate and liquidity risks arise in the normal course of the Group’s business 
activities. The main objectives of the Group’s financial risk management are as follows: 
 

 to identify and monitor such risks on an ongoing basis; 
 to minimize and mitigate such risks; and 
 to provide a degree of certainty about costs. 
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The Group’s BOD reviews and approves the policies for managing each of these risks and they are 
summarized below: 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or 
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group trades only with recognized, creditworthy 
third parties. The Group’s receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis resulting to manageable 
exposure to bad debts. Real estate buyers are subject to standard credit check procedures which are 
calibrated based on the payment scheme offered. The Group’s respective credit management units 
conduct a comprehensive credit investigation and evaluation of each buyer to establish 
creditworthiness. 
 
Receivable balances are being monitored on a regular basis to ensure timely execution of necessary 
intervention efforts. In addition, the credit risk for real estate receivables is mitigated as the Group has 
the right to cancel the sales contract without need for any court action and take possession of the 
subject house in case of refusal by the buyer to pay on time the due installment contracts receivable. 
This risk is further mitigated because the corresponding title to the subdivision units sold under this 
arrangement is transferred to the buyers only upon full payment of the contract price. 
 
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash 
and cash equivalents and AFS financial assets, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default 
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. The 
Group transacts only with institutions or banks which have demonstrated financial soundness for the 
past 5 years.  
 
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments 
associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from either the inability to sell financial 
assets quickly at their fair values; or the counterparty failing on repayment of a contractual obligation; 
or inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated. 
 
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the 
use of bank loans and advances from related parties. The Group considers its available funds and its 
liquidity in managing its long-term financial requirements. It matches its projected cash flows to the 
projected amortization of long-term borrowings. For its short-term funding, the Group’s policy is to 
ensure that there are sufficient operating inflows to match repayments of short-term debt. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
Financial assets and credit facilities of the Group, as well as major contracts entered into for the 
purchase of raw materials, are mainly denominated in Philippine Peso. There are only minimal 
placements in foreign currencies and the Group does not have any foreign currency-denominated 
debt. As such, the Group’s foreign currency risk is minimal. 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in the market interest rates will reduce the Group’s current or 
future earnings and/or economic value. The Group’s interest rate risk management policy centers on 
reducing the overall interest expense and exposure to changes in interest rates.  Changes in market 
interest rates relate primarily to the Group’s interest bearing debt obligations with floating interest 
rates or rates subject to repricing as it can cause a change in the amount of interest payments. 
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EXHIBIT 1 
Schedule of Financial Soundness Indicators 
September 30, 2014 and September 30, 2013 
 

        
   
 
Notes: 
(1)  Return on assets is calculated by dividing net income for the period by average total assets (beginning plus 

end of the period divided by two). 
(2) Return on equity is calculated by dividing net income for the period by average total equity (beginning plus 

end of the period divided by two). 
(3) EBIT is calculated as net income after adding back interest expense and provision for income tax. EBITDA 

is calculated as net income after adding back interest expense, depreciation and amortization and 
provision for income tax 

(4) Net debt is calculated as total debt less cash and cash equivalents as of the end of the period. 
(5)  Gross profit from real estate sales margin is calculated as the sum of real estate sales and accretion of 

unamortized discount (which we record under interest and other income), less the cost of real estate sales, 
as a percentage of the sum of real estate sales and accretion of unamortized discount, for the period. We 
believe that including accretion of unamortized discount in this calculation is a useful measure of the 
profitability of our real estate operations because such unamortized discount forms part of the original 
contract price of the sales contracts. 

(6)  Net margin is calculated as net income as a percentage of revenue for the period. 
(7) Net debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity as of the end of the period. 
(8)  Debt-to-EBITDA ratio is calculated as total debt as of the end of the period divided by EBITDA for the 

period calculated on an annualized basis. 
(9)  Net debt to EBITDA ratio is calculated as net debt as of the end of the period divided by EBITDA for the 

period calculated on an annualized basis. 
(10)  This ratio is obtained by dividing the Current Assets of the Group by its Current liabilities. This ratio is used 

as a test of the Group’s liquidity.  
 
  

2014 2013
Current Ratio 3.0x 2.6x
Debt to Equity Ratio 0.8x 0.5x
Total Liabilities to Total Equity Ratio 1.4x 1.3x
Asset to Equity Ratio 2.4x 2.3x

2014 2013
Return on Assets [Annualized] 7.5% 9.5%
Return on Equity [Annualized] 17.5% 21.7%
EBIT 2,414.1 2,367.6
EBITDA 2,447.8 2,407.5
Total Debt 10,452.5 5,451.2
Net Debt 7,599.0 3,663.4
Gross Profit from Real Estate Sales Margin 44.9% 45.5%
Net Income Margin 18.8% 19.6%
Net debt-to-equity ratio 0.6x 0.3x
Debt-to-EBITDA ratio 3.2x 1.7x
Net debt-to-EBITDA ratio 2.3x 1.1x

As of Sept 30

For the nine months ended Sept 30
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 
 
Results of operations covering 3rd Quarter of 2014 vs 3rd Quarter of 2013 
 
Revenue 
 
Real Estate 
The Group account for real estate revenue from completed housing and condominium units and lots 
using the full accrual method.  The Group uses the percentage of completion method, on a unit by 
unit basis, to recognize income from sales where the Group has material obligations under the sales 
contract to complete after the property is sold.  Under this method, revenue is recognize as the related 
obligations are fulfilled, measured principally in relation to actual costs incurred to date over the total 
estimated costs.  The Group typically requires payment of 20% to 50% of the total contract price, 
depending on the type of property being purchased, and buyers are given the duration of the 
construction period to complete such payment. 

  
For the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Group recorded revenue from real estate sales 
amounting to P7,230.2 million and posted an increase of 3.7% from P6,973.2 million in the same 
period of 2013.  The increase was due to recognition of more real estate sales pursuant to higher pre-
sales, in addition to the policies and estimates pursuant to the collectibility of sales price and the 
percentage of completion methods.  During 2014, Century City buildings reported P2,815.0 million 
primarily from Knightsbridge, Trump Tower, Spire and Milano Residences including Centuria Medical 
Tower as compared to P2,606.0 million in the same period of 2013.  CLC reported P4,394.1 million of 
revenue from real estate sales particularly from certain towers of Azure, Aqua and Commonwealth 
Residences as compared to P3,917.6 million in the same period of 2013.  Moreover, CCC has 
reported P21.1 million of revenue from Canyon Ranch as compared to P449.6 million in same period 
of 2013. 

 
Interest and Other Income 
Interest and other income decreased by 4.8% to P868.0 million for the period ended September 30, 
2014 from P912.0 million in the same period ended September 30, 2013.  This decrease was due 
primarily to reduced forfeited collections during the year. 

 
Property management fee and other services  
Property management fee and other services increased by 10.0% to P217.3 million in the period 
ended September 30, 2014 from P197.6 million in the same period ended September 30, 2013.  This 
increase was primarily due to management fee rate escalations for some of the projects under 
management ranging from 5% to 10%.  The number of buildings under management as of September 
30, 2014 is 51 as of September 30, 2014. 

 
 Leasing Revenue 

An increase in leasing revenue by 106.0 million in the period ended September 30, 2014 from nil in 
the same period ended September 30, 2013 is caused by the start of operation of Century City Mall in 
the year 2014. 

 
Costs and Expenses 

 
Cost and expenses increased by 7.0% to P6,187.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 
2014 from P5,781.3 million for the period ended September 30, 2013. 

 
 Cost of real estate sales increased by 6.9% from P4,023.1 million in the nine months ended  

September 30, 2013 to P4,299.1 million in the period ended September 30, 2014.  This was 
primarily due to the corresponding growth in revenue from real estate sales as well as increased 
in certain components of development costs. 

 
 Cost of services increased by 27.2% to P168.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 

2014 from P132.1 million in the period ended September 30, 2013.  This was primarily due to 
corresponding growth in property management and other service fees. 
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 General, administrative and selling expenses increased by 1.6% to P1,585.1 million in the nine 

months ended September 30, 2014 from P1,560.0 million in the period ended September 30, 
2013.  The increase was primarily due to amortization of deferred marketing expenses. 
 

 Interest and other financing charges increased by 103.8% to P134.7 million for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2014 from P66.1 million in the period ended September 30, 2013.  This 
was primarily due to bank fees and other financing charges paid other than capitalized borrowing 
costs during the year.  
 

Provision for Income Tax  
Provision for income tax decreased by 4.0% to P687.5 million in the nine months ended September 
30, 2014 from P715.9 million in the period ended September 30, 2013 as a result of lower taxable 
income during the period. 

 
Net Income  
As a result of the foregoing, net income increased by 0.4% to P1,591.8 million for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2014 from P1,585.6 million in the period ended September 30, 2013. 
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FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
As of September 30, 2014 vs. December 31, 2013 
 
Total assets as of September 30, 2014 were P30,419.8 million compared to P26,166.0 million as of  
December 31, 2013, or a 16.3% increase.  This was due to the following: 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents increased by P1,414.7 million from P1,438.9 million as of December 

31, 2013 to P2,853.5 million as of September 30, 2014 primarily due to issuance of bonds during 
the period. 

 
 Receivables  increased by 2.4% from P9,093.8 million as of December 31, 2013 to P9,229.1 

million as of September 30, 2014 due to the revenue recognized during the period pursuant to 
higher pre-sales, in addition to the policies and estimates pursuant to the collectability of sales 
price and percentage of completion methods. 
 

 During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, real estate inventories  increased by 26.7% 
from P7,026.9 million as of December 31, 2013 to P8,902.3 million due to development of various 
projects during the period. 
  

 Investment properties posted an increase of 7.0% to P4,366.8 million as of September 30, 2014 
as compared to P4,080.8 million as of December 31, 2013 primarily due to completion of Century 
City Lifestyle Center and other costs incurred for Forbes and Spire Buildings.  
  

Total liabilities as of September 30, 2014 were P17,579.6 million compared to P14,730.9 million as of 
December 31, 2013, or a 19.3% increase.  This was due to the following: 

 
 Accounts and other payables decreased by 24.4% from P4,629.1 million as of December 31, 

2013 to P3,501.4 million as of September 30, 2014 due to payments made to suppliers and 
contractors during the period.  
 

 Short-term and long-term debt representing the sold portion of the Company’s installment 
contracts receivables with recourse, syndicated loans, and bi-lateral term loans increased by 
28.4% from P6,039.1 million as of December 31, 2013 to P7,752.5 million as of September 30, 
2014 due to draw down or availments made during the year. 
 

 The Company issued a P2.7 billion bond during the year increasing the total liabilities of the 
Group. 
 

 Pension liabilities  increased by 4.7% from P142.7 million as of December 31, 2013 to P149.4 
million as of September 30, 2014 as a result of accrual pension expense during the period. 
 

 Income tax payable increased by P80.3 million from P5.8 million as of December 31, 2013 to 
P86.2 million as of September 30, 2013 primarily due to primarily due to accrual of income tax 
payments for the 3rd quarter of 2014. 

 
Total stockholder’s equity net increased by 12.3% to P12,840.2 million as of September 30, 2014 
from P11,435.1 million as of December 31, 2013 due to the net income recorded for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2014 net of CPGI’s dividend declaration in June 2014 and additional treasury 
shares during the period. 
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Notes:  
(1) Return on assets is calculated by dividing net income for the period by average total assets (beginning plus 

end of the period divided by two).  
(2) Return on equity is calculated by dividing net income for the period by average total equity (beginning plus 

end of the period divided by two).  
(3) EBIT is calculated as net income after adding back interest expense and provision for income tax. EBITDA 

is calculated as net income after adding back interest expense, depreciation and amortization and 
provision for income tax.  

(4) Net debt is calculated as total debt less cash and cash equivalents as of the end of the period.  
(5) Gross profit from real estate sales margin is calculated as the sum of real estate sales and accretion of 

unamortized discount (which we record under interest and other income), less the cost of real estate sales, 
as a percentage of the sum of real estate sales and accretion of unamortized discount, for the period. We 
believe that including accretion of unamortized discount in this calculation is a useful measure of the 
profitability of our real estate operations because such unamortized discount forms part of the original 
contract price of the sales contracts.  

(6) Net margin is calculated as net income as a percentage of revenue for the period.  
(7) Net debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity as of the end of the period.  
(8) Debt-to-EBITDA ratio is calculated as total debt as of the end of the period divided by EBITDA for the 

period calculated on an annualized basis.  
(9) Net debt to EBITDA ratio is calculated as net debt as of the end of the period divided by EBITDA for the 

period calculated on an annualized basis.  
(10) This ratio is obtained by dividing the Current Assets of the Group by its Current liabilities. This ratio is used 

as a test of the Group’s liquidity. 
 
  

2014 2013
Current Ratio 3.0x 2.6x
Debt to Equity Ratio 0.8x 0.5x
Total Liabilities to Total Equity Ratio 1.4x 1.3x
Asset to Equity Ratio 2.4x 2.3x

2014 2013
Return on Assets [Annualized] 7.5% 9.5%
Return on Equity [Annualized] 17.5% 21.7%
EBIT 2,414.1 2,367.6
EBITDA 2,447.8 2,407.5
Total Debt 10,452.5 5,451.2
Net Debt 7,599.0 3,663.4
Gross Profit from Real Estate Sales Margin 44.9% 45.5%
Net Income Margin 18.8% 19.6%
Net debt-to-equity ratio 0.6x 0.3x
Debt-to-EBITDA ratio 3.2x 1.7x
Net debt-to-EBITDA ratio 2.3x 1.1x

As of Sept 30

For the nine months ended Sept 30
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Material Changes to the Company’s Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2014 compared to 
December 31, 2013 (increase/decrease of 5% or more) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents increased by P1,414.7 million from P1,438.9 million as of December 31, 
2013 to P2,853.5 million as of September 30, 2014 primarily due to issuance of bonds during the 
period. 
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2014, real estate inventories  increased by 26.7% from 
P7,026.9 million as of December 31, 2013 to P8,902.3 million due to development of various projects 
during the period. 
 
Advances to suppliers and contractors decreased by 52.2% to P629.1 million as of September 30, 
2014 from P1,314.9 million as of December 31, 2013 primarily due to reclassification of advances to 
suppliers and contractors to real estate inventory. 
 
Derivative assets increased by 149.1% due to valuation gain recognized during the period. 
 
Prepayments and other current assets increased by 45.0% from P1,265.9 million as of December 31, 
2013 to P1,834.9 million as of September 30, 2014 due to additional deferrals of marketing expenses 
and higher input taxes recognized during the nine months period. 
 
As of September 30, 2014, the Company invested in A2 Global, Inc. amounting to P164.7 million 
which increased by 237.7% from P48.8 million as of December 31, 2013.  In addition to the 
investment made by the Company to A2 Global, Inc., the Company’s deposits for land acquisitions 
increased by 149.1% to P384.9 million as of September 30, 2014 from P154.5 million as of December 
31, 2013. 
 
Investment properties posted an increase of 7.0% to P4,366.8 million as of September 30, 2014 as 
compared to P4,080.8 million as of December 31, 2013 primarily due to completion of Century City 
Lifestyle Center and other costs incurred for Forbes and Spire Buildings. 
 
Property and equipment accounts decreased by 21.8% from P157.8 million as of December 31, 2013 
to P123.3 million as of September 30, 2014 primarily due to depreciation recognized during the 
period. 
 
As of September 30, 2014, intangible assets account increased by 104.0% to P36.7 million from 
P18.0 million as of December 31, 2013 due to acquisition of certain software and trademarks. 
 
Other non-current assets increased by 39.9% from P758.1 million as of December 31, 2013 to 
P1,060.5 million as of September 30, 2014 due to rentals and other security deposits made during the 
year as well non-current portion of deferred marketing expenses for newly launched projects with no 
percentage-of-completion as of September 30, 2014. 
 
Accounts and other payables decreased by 24.4% from P4,629.1 million as of December 31, 2013 to 
P3,501.4 million as of September 30, 2014 due to payments made to suppliers and contractors during 
the period 
 
Customers’ advances and deposits decreased by 41.7% from P2,222.7 million to P1,296.6 million 
since certain accounts qualified to revenue recognition during the period.  Balances as of  
September 30, 2014 represents collection from customers which do not meet the revenue recognition 
criteria as of the end of the period. 
 
Short-term and long-term debt representing the sold portion of the Company’s installment contracts 
receivables with recourse, syndicated loans, and bi-lateral term loans increased by 28.4% from 
P6,039.1 million as of December 31, 2013 to P7,752.5 million as of September 30, 2014 due to draw 
down or availments made during the year. 

 
The Company issued a P2.7 billion bond during the year increasing the total liabilities of the Group. 
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Income tax payable increased by P80.3 million from P5.8 million as of December 31, 2013 to P86.2 
million as of September 30, 2013 primarily due to primarily due to accrual of income tax payments for 
the 3rd quarter of 2014. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities (net of deferred tax assets) increased by 25.0% from P1,504.1 million as of 
December 31, 2013 to P1,879.3 million as of September 30, 2014 due to additional future taxable 
items during the period. 
 
Total stockholder’s equity net increased by 12.3% to P12,840.2 million as of September 30, 2014 
from P11,435.0 million as of December 31, 2013 due to the net income recorded for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2014 net of CPGI’s dividend declaration in June 2014 and additional treasury 
shares during the period. 
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Material Changes to the Company’s Statement of income for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2014 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2013 
(increase/decrease of 5% or more) 
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2014, the Group recorded revenue from real estate sales 
amounting to P7,230.2 million and posted an increase of 3.7% from P6,973.2 million in the same 
period of 2013.  The increase was due to recognition of more real estate sales pursuant to higher pre-
sales, in addition to the policies and estimates pursuant to the collectibility of sales price and the 
percentage of completion methods.  During 2014, Century City buildings reported P2,815.0 million 
primarily from Knightsbridge, Trump Tower and Milano Residences including Centuria Medical Tower 
as compared to P2,606.0 million in the same period of 2013.  CLC reported P4,394.1 million of 
revenue from real estate sales particularly from certain towers of Azure, Aqua and Commonwealth 
Residences as compared to P3,917.6 million in the same period of 2013.  Moreover, CCC has 
reported P21.1 million of revenue from Canyon Ranch as compared to P449.6 million in same period 
of 2013. 
 
An increase in leasing revenue by 106.0 million in the period ended September 30, 2014 from nil in 
the same period ended September 30, 2013 is caused by the start of operation of Century City Mall in 
the year 2014. 

 
Property management fee and other services increased by 10.0% to P217.3 million in the period 
ended September 30, 2014 from P197.6 million in the same period ended September 30, 2013.  This 
increase was primarily due to management fee rate escalations for some of the projects under 
management ranging from 5% to 10%.  The number of buildings under management as of September 
30, 2014 is 51 as of September 30, 2014. 
 
Cost of real estate sales increased by 6.9% from P4,023.1 million in the nine months ended  
September 30, 2013 to P4,299.1 million in the period ended September 30, 2014.  This was primarily 
due to the corresponding growth in revenue from real estate sales as well as increased in certain 
components of development costs. 
 
Cost of services increased by 27.2% to P168.0 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2014 
from P132.1 million in the period ended September 30, 2013.  This was primarily due to 
corresponding growth in property management and other service fees. 

 
Interest and other financing charges increased by 103.8% to P134.7 million for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2014 from P66.1 million in the period ended September 30, 2013.  This was 
primarily due to bank fees and other financing charges paid other than capitalized borrowing costs 
during the year.  
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 
 
Results of operations covering 3rd Quarter of 2013 vs 3rd Quarter of 2012 
 
Revenues 

 
Real Estate 
The Group account for real estate revenue from completed housing and condominium units and lots 
using the full accrual method. The Group uses the percentage of completion method, on a unit by unit 
basis, to recognize income from sales where the Group has material obligations under the sales 
contract to complete after the property is sold.  Under this method, revenue is recognize as the related 
obligations are fulfilled, measured principally in relation to actual costs incurred to date over the total 
estimated costs.  The Group requires payment of 20% to 60% of the total contract price, depending 
on the type of property being purchased, and buyers are given the duration of the construction period 
to complete such payment.  In determining whether the sales prices are collectible, the Group 
considers that initial and continuing investments by the buyer of about 10% would demonstrate the 
buyer’s commitment to pay. 

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, the Group recorded revenue from real estate sales 
amounting to P6,973.2 million and posted an increase of 6.6% from P6,544.0 million in the same 
period of 2012.  The increase was due to recognition of more real estate sales pursuant to higher pre-
sales, in addition to the policies and estimates pursuant to the collectibility of sales price and the 
percentage of completion methods.  During 2013, Century City buildings reported P2,606.0 million 
primarily from Knightsbridge, Trump Tower and Milano Residences including Centuria Medical Tower 
as compared to P3,515.0 million in the same period of 2012.  CLC reported P3,917.6 million of 
revenue from real estate sales particularly from certain towers of Azure, Aqua and Commonwealth 
Residences as compared to P2,951.4 million in the same period of 2012.  Moreover, CCC has 
reported P449.6 million of revenue from Canyon Ranch as compared to P72.8 million in same period 
of 2012. 
 
Interest and Other Income 
Interest and other income increased by 74.8% to P912.0 million in the nine months ended September 
30, 2013 from P521.8 million for the period ended September 30, 2012. This increase was due 
primarily to non-cash accretion of unamortized discounts reflecting increased sales in the period and 
the increase in cumulative sales and collections from prior periods.. 

 
Property management fee and other services   
Property management fee and other services increased by 25.9% to P197.6 million in the nine 
months ended September 30, 2013 from P157.0 million for the period ended September 30, 2012. 
This increase was primarily due to management fee rate escalations for some of the projects under 
management ranging from 5% to 10%. The number of buildings under management as of September 
30, 2013 is 53. 

 
Costs and Expenses 
Cost and expenses  increased by 8.1% to P5,781.3 million in the nine months ended September 30, 
2013 from P5,350.3 million for the period ended September 30, 2012.   

 
 Cost of real estate sales increased by 3.9% from P3,872.2 million in the nine months ended 

September 30, 2012 to P4,023.1 million in the period ended September 30, 2013. This was 
primarily due to the corresponding growth in revenue from real estate sales.  
 

 Cost of services increased by 14.2% to P132.1 million in the nine months ended September 
30, 2013 from P115.7 million in the period ended September 30, 2012. This was primarily 
related to incremental revenues in 2013. 
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 General, administrative and selling expenses increased by 17.7% to P1,560.0 million in the 
nine months ended September 30, 2013 from P1,325.9 million in the period ended September 
30, 2012. The increase was primarily due to amortization of deferred marketing expenses of 
launched projects with no percentage-of-completion as of September 30, 2012 and those 
incurred by the projects during the period ended September 30, 2013. 

 
 Interest and other financing charges increased by 81.1% to P66.1 million in the nine months 

ended September 30, 2013 from P36.5 million in the period ended September 30, 2012. This 
was primarily due to financing charges on new project level debt raised during the period. 

 
Provision for Income Tax  
Provision for income tax increased by 55.3% to P715.9 million in the nine months ended September 
30, 2013 from P460.9 million in the period ended September 30, 2012. The increase was primarily 
due to collections on new sales during the period as well as from amortization of accounts sold in 
previous periods. Also, most of company’s BOI exempt accounts from Rio and Santorini buildings 
were already declared in previous period.  

 
Net Income  
As a result of the foregoing, net income increased by 12.3% from P1,411.6 million in the nine months 
ended September 30, 2012 to P1,585.6 million in the period ended September 30, 2013. 
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Financial Condition as of June 30, 2013 vs December 31, 2012 
 
Total assets as of September 30, 2013 were P25,724.6 million compared to P18,579.3 million as of 
December 31, 2012, or a 38.5% increase. This was due to the following: 

 
 Cash and cash equivalents including short term and long-term cash investments increased by 

P886.0 million from P901.8 million as of December 31, 2012 to P1,787.8 million as of 
September 30, 2013 primarily due to receipt of proceeds from the Placing and Subscription 
Transaction and short-term and long-term debt. 

 
 Receivables increased by 30.3% from P6,813.3 million to P8,875.3 million primarily due to the 

revenue recognized during the period.  
 

 During the period ended September 30, 2013, Real estate inventories increased by 55.5% 
from P3,951.8 million to P6,144.6 million due to developments of various projects during the 
period.   

 
Total liabilities as of September 30, 2013 were P14,499.4 million as compared to P10,313.1 million as 
of December 31, 2012. This was due to the following 

 
 Accounts and other payables increased by 94.5% from P2,868.9 million as of December 31, 

2012 to P5,579.3 million as of September 30, 2013 due to accruals made at the end of the 
period. 

 
 Customers’ advances and deposits decreased by 34.8% from P2,288.4 million to P1,491.6 

million since certain accounts qualified to revenue recognition during the period. Balances as 
of September 30, 2013, represent collections from customers which do not meet the revenue 
recognition criteria as of end of the period. 

 
 Short-term and long-term debt representing the sold portion of the Company’s installment 

contracts receivables with recourse, LCTRs and term loans, increased by 48.9% from 
P3,661.0 million as of December 31, 2012 to P5,451.2 million as of September 30, 2013 due 
to draw down or availments made during the period. 

 
 Income tax payable increased by 37.5% from P98.1 million as of December 31, 2012 to 

P134.9 million as of September 30, 2013 primarily due to higher taxable income during the 
nine months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to full year 2012. 
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Total stockholder’s equity net increased by 35.8% to P11,225.3 million as of September 30, 2013 
from P8,266.2 million as of December 31, 2012 due to issuance of new shares and the net income 
recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2013. 
 
      
    As of September 30   
    2013 2012   
  Current Ratio 2.6x   2.4x     
  Debt to Equity Ratio 0.5x  0.2x    
  Asset to Equity Ratio 2.3x  2.2x    
    

    
For the nine months 

ended   
    2013 2012   
  Return on Assets (Annualized) 9.5% 13.8%   
  Return on Equity (Annualized) 21.7% 30.9%   
  EBIT 2,367.6  1,909.0    
  EBITDA 2,407.5  1,932.3    
  Total Debt 5,451.2  2,802.3    
  Net Debt 3,663.4  1,602.5    

  
Gross Profit from Real Estate Sales 
Margin 45.5% 43.1%   

  Net Income Margin 19.6% 19.1%   
  Net debt-to-equity ratio 0.3x 0.1x    
  Debt-to-EBITDA ratio 1.7x   0.7x     
  Net debt-to-EBITDA ratio 1.1x   0.4x     
          

 
Notes: 
(1)  Return on assets is calculated by dividing net income for the period by average total assets (beginning plus 

end of the period divided by two). 
(2) Return on equity is calculated by dividing net income for the period by average total equity (beginning plus 

end of the period divided by two). 
(3) EBIT is calculated as net income after adding back interest expense and provision for income tax. EBITDA 

is calculated as net income after adding back interest expense, depreciation and amortization and 
provision for income tax 

(4) Net debt is calculated as total debt less cash and cash equivalents as of the end of the period. 
(5)  Gross profit from real estate sales margin is calculated as the sum of real estate sales and accretion of 

unamortized discount (which we record under interest and other income), less the cost of real estate sales, 
as a percentage of the sum of real estate sales and accretion of unamortized discount, for the period. We 
believe that including accretion of unamortized discount in this calculation is a useful measure of the 
profitability of our real estate operations because such unamortized discount forms part of the original 
contract price of the sales contracts. 

(6)  Net margin is calculated as net income as a percentage of revenue for the period. 
(7) Net debt-to-equity ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity as of the end of the period. 
(8)  Debt-to-EBITDA ratio is calculated as total debt as of the end of the period divided by EBITDA for the 

period calculated on an annualized basis. 
(9)  Net debt to EBITDA ratio is calculated as net debt as of the end of the period divided by EBITDA for the 

period calculated on an annualized basis. 
(10)  This ratio is obtained by dividing the Current Assets of the Group by its Current liabilities. This ratio is used 

as a test of the Group’s liquidity.  
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Material Changes to the Company’s Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2013 compared to December 
31, 2012 (increase/decrease of 5% or more) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents including short term and long-term cash investments increased by  
P886.0 million from P901.8 million as of December 31, 2012 to P1,787.8 million as of September 30, 
2013 primarily due to receipt of proceeds from the Placing and Subscription Transaction and short-
term and long-term debt. 
 
Receivables increased by 30.3% from P6,813.3 million to P8,875.3 million primarily due to the 
revenue recognized during the period.  
 
During the period ended September 30, 2013, Real estate inventories increased by 55.5% from 
P3,951.8 million to P6,144.6 million due to developments of various projects during the period. 
 
Advances to suppliers and contractors increased by 21.9% from P925.3 million as of December 31, 
2012 to P1,127.7 million as of September 30, 2013 primarily due to advances made by the Group to 
its suppliers and contractors at the end of the period. 
 
Prepayments and other current assets increased by 51.4% from P2,387.0 million to P3,615.0 million 
due to payment of creditable withholding taxes, advances to lot owners and deferral of certain 
marketing expenses of newly launched projects with no percentage-of-completion as of September 
30, 2013. 
 
Investment properties increased by 28.8% from P1,920.1 million as of December 31, 2012 to 
P2,472.5 million due to improvements made during the period. 
 
Other non-current assets increased by 127.5% from P25.1 million as of December 31, 2012 to  
P57.1 million due to deferred borrowing costs capitalized during the period. 
 
Accounts and other payables increased by 94.5% from P2,868.9 million as of December 31, 2012 to 
P5,579.3 million as of September 30, 2013 due to accruals made at the end of the period. 
 
Customers’ advances and deposits decreased by 34.8% from P2,288.4 million to P1,491.6 million 
since certain accounts qualified to revenue recognition during the period. Balances as of September 
30, 2013, represent collections from customers which do not meet the revenue recognition criteria as 
of end of the period. 
 
Short-term and long-term debt representing the sold portion of the Company’s installment contracts 
receivables with recourse, LCTRs and term loans, increased by 48.9% from P3,661.0 million as of 
December 31, 2012 to P5,451.2 million as of September 30, 2013 due to draw down or availments 
made during the period. 
 
Income tax payable increased by 37.5% from P98.1 million as of December 31, 2012 to  
P134.9 million as of September 30, 2013 primarily due to higher taxable income during the nine 
months ended September 30, 2013 as compared to full year 2012. 
 
Total stockholder’s equity net increased by 35.8% to P11,225.3 million as of September 30, 2013 
from P8,266.2 million as of December 31, 2012 due to issuance of new shares and the net income 
recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2013. 
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Material Changes to the Company’s Statement of income for the 3rd quarter ended September 
30, 2013 compared to the 3rd quarter ended September 30, 2012 (increase/decrease of 5% or 
more) 

 
Revenue from real estate sales amounting to 6,973.2 million for the nine months ended  
September 30, 2013 an increase of 6.6% from P 6,544.0 million in same period last year. Movement 
in this period’s revenue was due primarily to full completion of Gramercy, Rio and Santorini and 
significant construction accomplishments of The Knightsbridge Residences, The Milano Residences, 
Centuria Medial Building, and the St. Tropez, Miami, Positano, Maldives and Maui Buildings in Azure 
Urban Resort Residences, Niagara, Sutherland Dettifoss and Livingstone Buildings of Acqua Private 
Residences; as well as Osmeña West, Quezon North and Osmeña East of Commonwealth 
Residences and Canyon Ranch. 
 
Interest and other income increased by 74.8% to P912.0 million in the nine months ended September 
30, 2013 from P521.8 million for the period ended September 30, 2012. This increase was due 
primarily to non-cash accretion of unamortized discounts reflecting increased sales in the period and 
the increase in cumulative sales and collections from prior periods. 
 
Property management fee and other services increased by 25.9% to P197.6 million in the nine 
months ended September 30, 2013 from P157.0 million for the period ended September 30, 2012. 
This increase was primarily due to management fee rate escalations for some of the projects under 
management ranging from 5% to 10%.  
 
Cost of real estate sales increased by 3.9% from P3,872.2 million in the nine months ended 
September 30, 2012 to P4,023.1 million in the period ended September 30, 2013. This was primarily 
due to the corresponding growth in revenue from real estate sales. 
 
Cost of services increased by 14.2% to P132.1 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 
from P115.7 million in the period ended September 30, 2012. This was primarily related to 
incremental revenues in 2013. 
 
General, administrative and selling expenses increased by 17.7% to P1,560.0 million in the nine 
months ended September 30, 2013 from P1,325.9 million in the period ended September 30, 2012. 
The increase was primarily due to amortization of deferred marketing expenses of launched projects 
with no percentage-of-completion as of September 30, 2012 and those incurred by the projects during 
the period ended September 30, 2013. 
 
Interest and other financing charges increased by 81.1% to P66.1 million in the nine months ended 
September 30, 2013 from P36.5 million in the period ended September 30, 2012. This was primarily 
due to financing charges on new project level debt raised during the period. 
 
Provision for income tax increased by 55.3% to P715.9 million in the nine months ended September 
30, 2013 from P460.9 million in the period ended September 30, 2012. The increase was primarily 
due to collections on new sales during the period as well as from amortization of accounts sold in 
previous periods. Also, most of company’s BOI exempt accounts from Rio and Santorini buildings 
were already declared in previous period. 
 
  



 
 

 55

There are no other material changes in the Group’s financial position (changes of 5% or more) and 
condition that will warrant a more detailed discussion. Further, there are no material events and 
uncertainties known to management that would impact or change reported financial information and 
condition on the Group. The Subsidiaries are contingently liable for guarantees arising in the ordinary 
course of business, including surety bonds, letters of guarantee for performance and bonds for all its 
real estate projects. 
 
The Group is contingently liable with respect to certain lawsuits or claims filed by third parties 
(substantially civil cases that are either pending decision by the courts or are under negotiation, the 
outcomes of which are not presently determinable). In the opinion of management and its legal 
counsels, the eventual liability under these lawsuits or claims, if any, will not have a material or 
adverse effect on the Group's financial position and results of operations. 
 
There are no known trends or demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will result in or that 
are reasonably likely to result in increasing or decreasing the Group’s liquidity in any material way. 
The Group sourced its capital requirements through a mix of internally generated cash and pre-
selling. The Group does not expect any material cash requirements beyond the normal course of the 
business. The Group is not in default or breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness or 
financing arrangement requiring it to make payments.  
 
There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 
Group, including any default or acceleration of an obligation except for those items disclosed in the 
3rd Quarter of 2014 Financial Statements. 
 
There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligation (including contingent 
obligations), or other relationships of the Group with unconsolidated entities or other persons created 
during the reporting period except those disclosed in the 3rd Quarter of 2014 Financial Statements. 
 
There are no material commitments for capital expenditures, events or uncertainties that have had or 
that are reasonably expected to have a material impact on the continuing operations of the Group. 
 
There were no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of 
operations of the Group.  
 
There are no explanatory comments on the seasonality of the operations. There are no material 
events subsequent to the end of the fiscal period that have not been reflected in the financial 
statements. 
 
There are no material amounts affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows that are 
unusual in nature; neither are there changes in estimates of amounts reported in a prior period of the 
current financial year. 
 
 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Parent Company’s subsidiaries are contingently liable for guarantees arising in the ordinary 
course of business, including surety bonds, letters of guarantee for performance and bonds for its 
entire real estate project.  
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PART II--OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Item 3. 3rd Quarter of 2014 Developments 
 
A. New Projects or Investments in another line of business or corporation. 
 
None 
 
B. Composition of Board of Directors 
 
Name of Director Position
Jose E.B. Antonio Chairman of the Board 
John Victor R. Antonio Director  
Jose Marco R. Antonio Director  
Jose Roberto R. Antonio Director  
Jose Carlo R. Antonio Director  
Ricardo Cuerva Director 
Rafael G. Yaptinchay Director  
Washington Z. Sycip Independent Director 
Monico V. Jacob Independent Director 
 
C. Performance of the corporation or result/progress of operations. 
 
Please see unaudited Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 
 
D. Declaration of Dividends. 
 
The Company declared dividends amounting to Php184,471,576 for  all shareholders as of record 
date: May 15, 2014 for P0.019046 per share.  Distribution of dividends was made on June 05, 2014 
 
E. Contracts of merger, consolidation or joint venture; contract of management, licensing, marketing, 
distributorship, technical assistance or similar agreements. 
 
None 
 
F. Offering of rights, granting of Stock Options and corresponding plans thereof. 
 
None 
 
G. Acquisition of additional mining claims or other capital assets or patents, formula, real estate. 
 
Not Applicable  
. 
H. Other information, material events or happenings that may have affected or may affect market 
price of security. 
 
None. 
 
I. Transferring of assets, except in normal course of business. 
 
None. 
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Item 4. Other Notes as of 3rd Quarter of 2014 Operations and Financials. 
 
J. Nature and amount of items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income, or cash flows that is 
unusual because of their nature, size, or incidents. 
 
None. 
 
K. Nature and amount of changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior periods and their material 
effect in the current period. 
 
There were no changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim period or prior financial years 
that have a material effect in the current interim period. 
. 
L. New financing through loans/ issuances, repurchases and repayments of debt and equity 
securities. 
 
See Notes to Financial Statements and Management Discussion and Analysis. 
 
M. Material events to the end of the interim period that have not been reflected in the financial 
statements for the interim period. 
 
None 
 
N. The effect of changes in the composition of the issuer during the interim period including business 
combinations, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and long term investments, restructurings, and 
discontinuing operations. 
 
None 
 
O. Changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets since the last annual statement of financial 
position date. 
 
None 
 
P. Existence of material contingencies and other material events or transactions during the interim 
period 
 
None.  
 
Q. Events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the company, 
including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
 
None 
 
R. Material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 
obligations), and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons 
created during the reporting period. 
 
None. 
 
S. Material commitments for capital expenditures, general purpose and expected sources of funds. 
 
The movement of capital expenditures being contracted arose from the regular land development and 
construction requirements. 
T. Known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to have 
impact on sales/revenues/income from continuing operations. 
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As of September 30, 2014, there are no known trends, events or uncertainties that are reasonably 
expected to have impact on sales/revenues/income from continuing operations except for those being 
disclosed in the 3rd Quarter of 2014 financial statements. 
 
U. Significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from continuing operations.  
 
None. 
 
V. Causes for any material change/s from period to period in one or more line items of the financial 
statements. 
 
See Notes to Financial Statements and Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) as material 
changes are described in detail in the MD&A section 
 
W. Seasonal aspects that had material effect on the financial condition or results of operations. 
 
None. 
 
X. Disclosures not made under SEC Form 17-C. 
 
None. 
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SIGNATURES  
 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Regulation Code, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 


